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The Daikyo Group hopes to create harmonious living environments that respond to the 
sweeping changes transforming society. To accomplish this, we will provide new products and 
services that apply the functions, expertise, and experience of each Group company and 
meticulous customer support that takes full advantage of networks developed over many years.

Leveraging the collective strengths of the Group, Daikyo strives to create a 

“harmonious living environment” through housing products and services that 

satisfy the needs of all age groups and lifestyles.
 (Management Philosophy of the Daikyo Group)
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This annual report includes translations of documents originally 
filed under the Securities and Exchange Law of Japan. This report 
was prepared in English solely for the convenience of readers 
outside Japan and should not be considered a disclosure 
statement. The original Japanese documents shal l  take 
precedence in the event of any discrepancies arising from the 
translations or interpretations contained in this report.
   Items within this report that are not statements of historical 
fact constitute forward-looking statements that are based on 
management’s evaluation of circumstances as of the fiscal 
year-end. Accordingly, statements may differ materially from 
actual results due to changes in the economic environment and 
operating conditions.
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 Please review the business environment and 

business results in fiscal 2012.

 Against a backdrop of low interest rates and the 

government’s stimulus policy for homebuyers, the con-

tract rate in the new condominium sales business, our 

mainstay business in the Real estate development and 

sales segment was mostly firm. After the turn of the 

year, signs of further improvement appeared, such as 

the impact of expectations of higher interest rates and 

prices on the confidence of people considering purchas-

ing. In the Real estate brokerage segment, business 

conditions in the used condominium market were favor-

able, and we were able to achieve a V-shaped recovery 

in the fiscal 2012 business results thanks in part to the 

results of operational reforms implemented the previ-

ous year. On the other hand, in the Real estate manage-

ment segment, despite a steady increase in the number 

of condominium units under management, we experi-

enced a decrease in profitability in some areas caused 

by a greater propensity to cut costs among condomin-

ium associations and building and facility owners, the 

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Akira Yamaguchi
President and Representative Executive Officer 
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

main customers for management services.

In this business environment, during the fiscal year 

under review the Company posted consolidated net 

sales of ¥302.6 billion, operating income of ¥22.1 billion, 

and ordinary income of ¥20.2 billion. Net income was 

¥15.5 billion, in line with the original plan, as a result of 

factors including a reversal of deferred tax assets.

 Grand Amenity became a consolidated subsid-

iary on April 1, 2012, followed by APEX WAKO 

this March and five companies of the Anabuki 

Construction group in April. What was Daikyo’s 

aim in consolidating these new subsidiaries and 

what challenges lie ahead?

 Securing earnings growth for the Daikyo Group is 

one of the most important challenges we face. To realize 

rapid and substantial growth, we made these companies 

into subsidiaries to acquire resources such as their cus-

tomer bases, business sites, business techniques, and 

human resources. I believe that the principal outcome of 

this move will be a strengthening of the Daikyo Group’s 
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Changes of interest-bearing debt and D/E ratio

Changes of shareholders’ equity and shareholders’ equity ratio

Past Strategies 　— Strengthening of Financial Position —

As a result of efforts since fiscal 2008 
to restore the soundness of the Daikyo 
Group’s financial base, which was 
damaged by the global financial crisis 
triggered by the collapse of Lehman 
Brothers, the shareholders’ equity ratio 
and D/E ratio improved to 47.7% and 
0.53, respectively, at the end of fiscal 
2012. Strategies were formulated to 
restore the Group’s financial stability, 
and through steady implementation, 
the Group succeeded in securing its 
earning power and establishing a solid 
financial position.
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Overview of Fiscal 2012 Results (Billions of yen)

Fiscal 2012
Planned

Fiscal 2012
Actual Differrence

Net sales 300.0 302.6 ＋  2.6

Operating income 22.0 22.1 ＋  0.1

Ordinary income 19.5 20.2 ＋  0.7

Net income 15.5 15.5 ＋ 　0



stock business. We have to continue to actively find and 

acquire resources that will contribute to the Group’s 

growth and maximize synergies with existing resources.

→ Background to the consolidation of new 

subsidiaries is discussed in the Special Feature.

At the same time, we believe that innovation in exist-

ing businesses and entry into new business fields, 

whether in Japan or overseas, are other challenges that 

we must take on. For example, in the Real estate broker-

age segment we will start up a condominium building 

renovation business.

To prevail against our competitors in an increasingly 

competitive business environment, we intend to pursue 

these activities with a sense of urgency in anticipation 

of constantly changing economic conditions and market 

trends.

  Please discuss the business strategy and future 

outlook.

 We have transformed our previous business model 

centered on the Lions Mansion brand and have under-

taken and achieved reconstruction of a stable earnings 

foundation by means of “stock” and “flow” double-pillar 

style of management as a business model that can flex-

ibly adapt to changes in the market environment.

Next, we will push boldly forward from the current 

stage of “Beyond Condominiums—Innovation Every-

where” and evolve into a real estate services business 

group capable of solving problems facing our customers 

in every aspect of their home life and lifestyle.

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Akira Yamaguchi
President and Representative Executive Officer 

The first condominium building total renovation project
Grandino Inage Kaigan (Chiba, Chiba Prefecture)
In the condominium building total renovation business, the Daikyo 
Group purchases a second-hand condominium building, renovates the 
front entrance, exterior walls, and other public areas and the condo-
minium units and other interior areas and resells the property.
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SPECIAL FEATURE

Initiatives in Preparation for Future Growth 
— Addition of Three Subsidiaries

Customer-
oriented 

management

Realization of
real estate 

services 
business

D
e

m
o

g
ra

p
h

ic
 c

h
a

n
g

e
, 

e
co

lo
g

y
, 

g
lo

b
a

li
za

ti
o

n

Emphasis on living environments

“Stock” and “flow” 
double-pillar style 

of management
Distin

ctiv
e approach

The viewpoint o
f c

usto
mers 

and busin
ess 

partn
ers

One-st
op provisio

n of 

Daiky
o Group se

rvice
s

Condominium management, Building management, 
Brokerage and leasing, Remodeling, Condominium development, etc.

Care apartments, Condominiums with check-on service for elderly, 
Nursing facilities management, Resident services, 
Redevelopment, Renovation, Life solution consulting, etc.

The Daikyo Group is rebuilding a stable earnings 

foundation by means of “stock” and “flow” double-

pillar style of management, pushing boldly forward 

from the current stage of “Beyond Condominiums 

—Innovation Everywhere” and evolving into a real estate 

services business group capable of solving problems 

facing our customers in every aspect of their home 

life and lifestyle.

The Daikyo Group is implementing various measures based on the Group Vision. 
In this special feature we discuss the background to the consolidation of new sub-
sidiaries in fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2012 and the resources acquired by the Group and 
measures implemented as a result of this strategic move.
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SPECIAL FEATURE

The Daikyo Group’s sales were on a declining trend  
in recent years. To accelerate preparations for future 
growth, the Group needed to obtain resources neces-
sary for growth that generally takes time to develop or 

is difficult to create independently. Bringing new consoli-
dated subsidiaries into the Group made it possible to fur-
ther step up the pace of growth toward the realization of 
a real estate services business.

By bringing new subsidiaries into the Group, we acquired 
a customer base and business base that contribute 
to earnings expansion in the stock business as well as 
human resources, technology, and functions that con-
tribute to profitability improvement through diversifi-

cation of business methods.
Next, we will discuss several expected outcomes from 

the acquisition of a new customer base, business base, 
human resources, technology, and functions.

New Group Acquisitions

Results of Consolidation of New Subsidiaries

Grand Amenity APEX WAKO

Number of employees:
122 (as of March 31, 2012)

Condominium management, 
building and apartment leasing 
management

Number of employees:
126 (as of March 31, 2013)

Electrical equipment work, 
instrument design, air condi-
tioning and plumbing work, etc.

Wako Accutech APEX WAKO 
(THAILAND)

Factory automation 
and computer 
systems planning

LAN system design 
and construction

Anabuki Construction Inc. and its affiliated companies 
Number of employees: 1,118 (as of April 2013)

Anabuki Construction Anabuki Community Anabuki Real Estate Center Anabuki Corporation Anabuki Engineering

Design and execute overall 
construction work

Condominium management, 
etc.

Real estate brokerage,
leasing, etc.

Construction, etc. Building design and 
management, etc.

Number of 
condominium 
units under 
management: 
approx. 68,000

Number of condominium 
units under management: 
approx. 28,000

New Subsidiaries

5



SPECIAL FEATURE

Customer Base and Business Base Acquisition
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SPECIAL FEATURE

Increase in orders for construction work

In the Real estate management segment, although Daikyo 
enjoys a high contract rate for condominiums currently 
under management, many of these condominiums are 
comparatively advanced in age, and the number of prop-
erties requiring remodeling work is expected to steadily 
increase. At the same time, the properties managed by 
recently acquired subsidiaries Grand Amenity and Anabuki 
Community are newer. As these properties age and need 
remodeling, the Group will increase sales of construction 
work by reliably securing orders.

Expansion of geographical coverage of 
the brokerage segment

The acquired business base will make it possible to rein-
force our capabilities on offer to residents in properties 
under management nationwide through the upgrading and 
expansion of the network of business sites in western 
Japan.

Real Estate Management

Real Estate Brokerage
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408,184

Anabuki Community
Grand Amenity
Daikyo Astage
Group net sales

51万戸超

2012 年 4月 1日
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（約 2.8 万戸）

2012 年 4月 1日
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Contract Work Forecast for Properties under 
Management of the Group

Customer Base

Business Base

Before

Before

After

After

Number of units under management: more than 
400,000 Located mainly in the Tokyo, Osaka, 
Nagoya metro areas

Business sites in 91% of the 47 prefectures
 (237 sites)

Number of units under management: more than 
510,000 
Acquisition of a customer base spanning all 47 
prefectures

Business sites in 45% of the 47 prefectures 
(129 sites)

Before 
Fiscal 2011

Since 
Fiscal 2011

Fiscal 2013 end 
(forecast)

408,184

Anabuki Community
Grand Amenity
Daikyo Astage 520,000

Apr. 1, 2012
Grand Amenity 
joins the Group

(Approx. 28,000 units)

Apr. 1, 2013
Anabuki Community 

joins the Group
(Approx. 70,000 units)
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Human Resources, Technology and Functions Aquired

Implementation of a two-brand strategy 
that takes advantage of the Group’s product 
and business characteristics

The Lions Mansion and Surpass brands have their own 
distinctive characteristics, and it is possible to strategi-
cally introduce two brands and products according to the 
specific features of the market. We will flexibly engage in 
business not by geographical area, but rather taking into 
account customer needs and profit and loss considerations.

Consideration of a unique procurement scheme 
that combines the two companies’ strengths in 
condominium construction

Daikyo and Anabuki Construction employ different 
condominium construction methods (see diagram). By 

combining the know-how of the two companies, we will 
develop unique processes unavailable to competitors. 
Specifically, these processes will involve joint purchasing 
of materials, mutual utilization of business partners, and 
leveraging of project management and cost estimate skills.

Real Estate Development and Sales

Daikyo Anabuki Construction

Condominium 
brand

Characteristics
High flexibility and 
excellent design, pioneering 
product planning

Standardization and 
commonality of materials 
→ High quality, low price

Daikyo Anabuki Construction

Business origin Daikyo started its condominium business as a developer. Anabuki Construction started its condominium business 
as a general construction contractor.

Business method

For construction of entire buildings Daikyo hires outside 
general construction contractors and has developed a 
separate order model for ordering equipment and materi-
als directly from manufacturers.

Although Daikyo generally hires outside general con-
struction contractors, it orders equipment and materials 
directly from manufacturers for the purpose of supplying 
high-quality, high-performance condominiums.

Anabuki can handle all in-house condominium business 
processes from land purchasing to sales and after-sales  
service. There is also feedback among the involved com-
panies on each business process. For this reason, cost 
estimation and purchasing are strengths, and Anabuki has 
many employees who excel at this work.

Advantages Daikyo lowers costs by taking advantage of benefits of 
scale to supply high-quality, high-performance condominiums.

By engaging in construction, Anabuki maintains 
extremely close relationships with local subcontractors 
and other business partners, which includes the sharing 
of networks.

SPECIAL FEATURE
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Bolstering electrical service capabilities 
and proposals
There are many projects for which electrical certifications are 
required to win orders, and APEX WAKO has many employ-
ees certified in electrical equipment. We expect to increase 
owner satisfaction and earn profits by proposing electrical 
equipment construction projects and performing the elec-
trical work in-house. In addition, we will enter businesses 
related to photovoltaic power generation systems, an area 
expected to develop into a high-growth market. We will place 
particular emphasis on increasing orders for the resulting 
system maintenance.

Real Estate Management

SPECIAL FEATURE

• Real estate development 
• Real estate sales 
• Urban development

• Condominium management 
• Repair and maintenance work 
• Tenant services

• Total building management 
• Real estate management 
• Construction

• Electric facilities design/installation 
• Instrumentation design/installation 
• Air-conditioning and sanitation facilities 
  design/installation

• LAN system design/installation 
• Electric facilities design/installation 
• Instrumentation design/installation

• Construction work 
• Building utility design/installation

• Factory automation system planning/
  development/production

• Condominium management 
• Building management
• Real estate services

• Contract construction 
• Repairs and remodeling
• Building diagnosis, seismic retrofit

• Condominium management 
• Repair and maintenance work 
• Internet service provision

• Building maintenance services 
• Janitorial services 
• Concierge services

• Remodeling 
• Design alterations
• Furniture and interior sales

• Real estate brokerage 
• Leasing management
• Asset management

• Real estate brokerage 
• Leasing management
• Real estate agency services

• Real estate brokerage, consulting 
• Real estate investment
• Due diligence support

• Construction planning/
  design/supervision

• Real estate development 
• Real estate sales 
• Contract construction

• Real estate development 
• Real estate sales 
• Urban development

DAIKYO INCORPORATED

TAIWAN DAIKYO INCORPORATED

DAIKYO ASTAGE INCORPORATED

DAIKYO REALDO INCORPORATED

ORIX ENGINEERING CORPORATIONORIX FACILITIES CORPORATION

APEX WAKO CO., LTD. WAKO ACCUTECH CO., LTD.

APEX WAKO (THAILAND) CO., LTD.

DAIKYO ASSETWAVE INCORPORATED

DAIKYO L•DESIGN INCORPORATED

DAIKYO LIFE INCORPORATEDGRAND AMENITY, LTD.

ANABUKI CORPORATION

ANABUKI CONSTRUCTION INC.

ANABUKI ENGINEERING INC.

ANABUKI REAL ESTATE CENTER INC.

ANABUKI COMMUNITY INC.

Photovoltaic Power Generation Plant at 
Ujigami Industrial Park

This photovoltaic power plant was developed by WAKO 
Energy under the Act on Special Measures Concerning 
the Procurement of Renewable Energy. The Daikyo Group 
obtained an order for plant operation and maintenance.

Leveraging the collective strengths of the Group, 
Daikyo strives to create superior and pleasant living environments
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Corporate Governance Structure

 Board of Directors
Daikyo’s Board of Directors, which is comprised of eight 
directors (four of whom were appointed from outside 
the Group) as of June 20, 2013, makes decisions on 
important management issues and oversees the activities 
of its executive officers. The Board of Directors met on 
nine occasions during the fiscal period under review. The 
director attendance rate at these meetings was 97.2%.

 Nominating Committee
The Nominating Committee, which is comprised of six 
directors (including four appointed from outside the 
Group) as of June 20, 2013, has the authority to decide 
on nominations for director at the Ordinary General 
Meeting of Shareholders and the right to deliberate the 
selection of important executives, such as executive 
officers and Representative Executive Officer. The 
Nominating Committee met on three occasions during 
the fiscal period under review. The director attendance 
rate at these meetings was 100%.

 Audit Committee
As of June 20, 2013, the Audit Committee is comprised 
of four outside directors who evaluate the activities of 
executive officers and the Company’s internal control 
systems. This evaluation is based on reports of the 
business and affairs of the Company presented by 
Representative Executive Officer, results of internal 
audits and reports relating to overall internal control 
presented by the executive officer in charge of the 
Group Audit Department, and accounting audit reports 
presented by the independent accounting auditor. The 

Audit Committee maintains a structure of cooperation that 
enables it to direct audits and investigations as required. 
The Audit Committee met on six occasions during the 
fiscal period under review. The director attendance rate 
at these meetings was 100%. 

Audit Committee member Teruo Ozaki, is a Certified 
Public Accountant, who has considerable knowledge 
of accounting and finance. Furthermore, Audit 
Committee member Akira Miyahara has been engaged 
in the accounting and finance operations at FUJIFILM 
Corporation and Fuji Xerox Co., Ltd. for many years, and 
has considerable knowledge of accounting and finance.

 Compensation Committee
The Compensation Committee, which is comprised of 
six directors (including the four appointed from outside 
the Group) as of June 20, 2013, has rights to set policy 
with regard to director and executive remuneration and to 
determine the individual remuneration of each director and 
executive officer. The Compensation Committee met on 
three occasions during the fiscal period under review. The 
director attendance rate at these meetings was 100%.

 Group Management Meetings
Matters of importance to the running of the Group’s 
business affairs are systematically deliberated and 
decided upon at Group Management Meetings attended 
by executive and other officers and held in principle once 
a month.

In addition, Business Review Meetings attended by 
executive and other officers are held in principle once a 
week to deliberate and determine important proposals 
relating to the Group’s condominium development and 

In an effort to further strengthen its corporate governance 
system, the Daikyo Group shifted to a “Company with 
Committees” system in June 2005, after approval was 
received at the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders 
held that same month. Under this system, supervisory 
functions are separated from executive functions in order 
to reinforce the system of checks and balances and to 

accelerate the decision-making process. In addition, 
Daikyo established a compliance framework to improve 
risk management. In this manner, Daikyo continuously 
endeavors to optimize corporate governance in its 
efforts to further improve soundness, transparency and 
efficiency in corporate management.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate Governance System

Corporate Structure and Internal Control System
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sales business.
A review of risk management system responses related 

to business and administration is carried out at the Group 
Management Meeting and the Business Review Meeting, 
where the status of each risk is analyzed and a complete 
picture of the current risk management status is formed.

Compliance System

Daikyo has established the Group Compliance Consultation 
System and other structures and developed a framework, 
namely the Compliance Help Desk for investigating, 
responding to, and correcting violations of laws, internal 
regulations, and social norms. In addition, Daikyo has 
established the Group Legal and Compliance Department, 
an organization responsible for compliance promotion 
that is working to establish and maintain a compliance 
framework.

 
Risk Management System

Daikyo evaluates and manages risks across a variety of 
categories, including real estate market risks, business 
risks and disaster risks. Group Legal and Compliance 

Department, which coordinates risk management 
methods based on monitoring activities, as well as 
feedback and reports from each department, regularly 
reports on information necessary to risk management to 
Representative Executive Officer as well as to the Audit 
Committee, with proposals to improve the Group’s risk 
management system.

 Internal Audit System

The Group Audit Department, which comprises sixteen 
members as of April 1, 2013 is responsible for internal 
audits.

The department puts business audit plans into effect 
and reports on the results of the audits to the Audit 
Committee. In addition, the Audit Committee maintains 
a framework of cooperation that enables it to direct 
the Audit Committee Secretariat or the Group Audit 
Department to conduct audits, investigations and other 
activities, as necessary. As well as giving suggestions 
and guidance on areas of improvement to departments 
undergoing audits, the Audit Committee works to 
improve the effectiveness of internal controls.

Group Management Meeting 

Business Review Meeting 

President and
Representative

Executive Officer

Executive Officers

Group Legal and 
Compliance Dept.

Group General Affairs 
& Personnel Dept.

Group Accounting Dept.

EXECUTIVE FUNCTION

Selection / dismissal of 
Executive Officers Oversight 
Reporting           

Reporting
occurrences of risk 

Accounting
audit report

ReportingMonitoring

Condominium Development
and Sales Div. 

Business checks-and-
balances system
Business support

Business promotion

Group Audit Department

SUPERVISORY FUNCTION

Selection / removal of
committee members 

Selection / dismissal
of Directors

Reporting Collective
efforts

Collective efforts

Nominating Committee
(Nominates Directors)

Compensation Committee
 (Determines compensation

for Directors) 

Board of Directors Audit Committee
(Evaluates activities of

Executive Officers) 

Audit Committee Secretariat      

Independent Auditor

Group Subsidiaries

Group Compliance
Consultation System 

Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders

Corporate Governance Structure

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Accounting Audit

In accordance with the Japanese Corporate Law and 
Financial Instruments and Exchange Law, Daikyo has 
concluded an auditing contract with KPMG AZSA LLC 
(a member firm of the KPMG network) for the auditing 
of the Company’s accounts. In addition to regular 
audits, Daikyo strives to hold proper discussions, ensure 
confirmation with KPMG AZSA and to perform fair 
accounting procedures with regard to accounting issues. 
There are no conflicts of interest between Daikyo and the 
independent auditing company or its employees engaged 
in the audits of the Company’s accounts.
(Name of the Certified Public Accountants (CPAs) 
engaged in the audits of financial statements for the 
fiscal year under review) 
Designated and Engagement Partners: Atsunori Sadahiro, 
Yukio Kumaki 
(Composition of the team of assistants to the audit of the 
financial statements for the fiscal year under review) 
CPAs: 14; others: 18

Relationships Between Outside Directors and the
Company

The four outside directors have no personal relationship 
with the directors of Daikyo.

Outside director Hiroaki Nishina holds the concurrent 
positions of Director and Vice Chairman of the ORIX 
Corporation, and Representative Director and Chairman 
of ORIX Real Estate Corporation. Daikyo and ORIX 
Corporation have concluded a capital alliance, with ORIX 
Corporation being a major shareholder of Daikyo. The 
Daikyo Group conducts business with the ORIX Real 
Estate Corporation involving joint projects and contract 
sales related to condominium sales. 

Outside director Teruo Ozaki is an outside director of 
the Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd. and the Company 
borrows funds, etc., from the Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi 
UFJ, Ltd.

No conflicts of interest exist between Daikyo and the 
other outside directors.

The role of outside directors is to provide opinions and 
advice on the Company’s management based on their 
respective knowledge and developed through their own 
experiences, and fulfilling this role is a condition of their 

appointment. Furthermore, with regard to the outside 
directors’ independence from the Company, they have 
been determined to be independent as they have no 
experience serving as operating officers of the Company 
or any businesses with specified relationships with the 
Company at present or in the past, have not received 
large sums of funds or property from the Company or 
any businesses with specified relationships with the 
Company in the past or plan to do so in the future, and 
are not the spouse or a relative to the third degree of an 
operating officer of the Company or any businesses with 
specified relationships with the Company.

In accordance with the provisions of Article 427, 
Paragraph 1, of the Japanese Corporate Law, Daikyo has 
entered into agreements with its outside directors to limit 
their liability due to negligence pursuant to Article 423, 
Paragraph 1, of the Japanese Corporate Law, which limits 
liability provided that the amount of the liability under the 
said agreement is the limited amount stipulated by law.

Resolution Required for Election of Directors

Daikyo’s Articles of Incorporation stipulate that resolutions 
for the election of Directors shall be adopted by a majority 
vote of the shareholders present who hold one-third or 
more of the total of the voting rights of shareholders 
entitled to exercise voting rights.

The Articles of Incorporation stipulate that cumulative 
voting shall not be used for resolutions concerning the 
election of Directors.

Decision-Making Body for Dividend Payments

To enable Daikyo to make flexible dividend payments, and 
as stipulated under Daikyo’s Articles of Incorporation, the 
Company may—unless otherwise provided for by laws 
and regulations—make decisions concerning dividend 
payments and any other matters set forth in Article 459, 
Paragraph 1, of the Japanese Corporate Law by the Board 
of Directors’ resolution and not by resolutions made at 
shareholders’ meetings.

Requirements for Extraordinary Resolutions at
General Shareholders’ Meetings and Class
Shareholders’ Meetings

As stipulated under the Articles of Incorporation, matters 
which shall be passed by an extraordinary resolution at 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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General Shareholders’ Meetings, as provided for under 
Article 309, Paragraph 2, of the Japanese Corporate Law, 
and at Class Shareholders’ Meetings, as provided for under 
Article 324, Paragraph 2, may be approved by two-thirds or 
more of the voting rights of the shareholders in attendance 
at the meetings, at which shareholders having one-third 
or more of the total of the voting rights of all shareholders 
entitled to exercise their voting rights must be in attendance. 
This serves to ensure the smooth running of these meetings 
by alleviating the need for a quorum to be present for an 
extraordinary resolution to be taken.

Number of Directors

The Company’s Articles of Incorporation stipulate that 
the number of Directors of the Company shall be three 
or more.

Director and Executive Exemptions from Liability

To enable Directors and executive officers to demonstrate 
that they are sufficiently fulfilling their duties in the roles 
expected of them and as stipulated under Daikyo’s 
Articles of Incorporation, the Company may, in accordance 
with Article 426, Paragraph 1, of the Japanese Corporate 
Law and by resolution of the Board of Directors, exempt 
Directors (including former directors) and executive 

officers (including former executive officers) from liability 
set forth in Article 423, Paragraph 1, of the law to the 
extent permitted in accordance with laws and regulations.

Shares with Restricted Voting Rights

To inhibit the dilutive effect of increasing common stock as 
much as possible, while at the same time strengthening 
its capital base, the Company issued Class 1, Class 2, 
Class 4, Class 7 and Class 8 preferred stock, all of which 
differ from common stock in that they possess no voting 
rights. Restrictions on the execution of voting rights in 
classified stock are defined in Article 108, Paragraph 1, 3 
of the Japanese Corporate Law.

However, the shareholder of Class 1 preferred stock 
(“Preferred Shareholder”) may exercise voting rights at a 
General Meeting of Shareholders where no reported item 
or proposal with regard to Preferred Shareholder receiving 
year-end preferred dividends is submitted, or from the 
time when this meeting of shareholders is concluded after 
a proposal concerning Preferred Shareholder receiving 
preferred dividends was dismissed, until a Board of 
Directors’ meeting or General Meeting of Shareholders 
resolves that Preferred Shareholder shall receive year-
end preferred dividends.

Total Amount of Compensation for Directors and Executive Officers

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

 Compensation System
In order to achieve mid- to long-term increases in 
shareholder value, emphasis is placed not only on current 
performance, but also on mid- to long-term results when 
determining compensation for Directors and executive 
officers of the Company, and it is believed to effectively 
function as an incentive. In deciding the amount of 
compensation, the Company considers the balance with 
the employee wage levels and executive compensation 
levels at other companies and sets compensation at 
an appropriate level in accordance with the roles and 
responsibilities that directors should fulfill to realize the 
vision to which the Group aspires.

 Structure of Compensation
Compensation comprises three parts: fixed compensation, 
performance-based compensation and share price-related 
compensation. Performance-based compensation is 
determined and paid according to the performance of 
the Company and consolidated subsidiaries. Share price-
related compensation consists of compensation added to 
monthly fixed compensation in the form of contributions to 
the directors’ shareholding association and compensation 
paid in cash or shares of stock at the time of retirement in 
an amount calculated by multiplying the total of a certain 
number of points granted to directors each year by the 
share price.

Policy Concerning the Determination of Officers’ Compensation
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There are no applicable shares.

There are no applicable shares.

The Total Value of Compensation of Each Officer of the Company

Not stated because there are no personnel with total compensation of ¥100 million or more.

(Millions of yen)

For the year ended 
March 31, 2012 For the year ended March 31, 2013

Total reported on 
non-consolidated 

balance sheets

Total reported on 
non-consolidated 

balance sheets
Total dividends

received
Total gain or loss on 

sales

Total amount of valuation
 gain or loss

Unrealized gains 
and losses

Impairment 
accounting

Unlisted shares 143 109   1 – – (34)

Shares other than 
unlisted shares 674 769 17 – 267 –

Types of Shares Held

Type of Holding, Issuer, Number, Amount on 
Non-Consolidated Balance Sheet, and Purpose of 
Investment Shares Held for Purposes Other than 
Pure Investment

Investment Shares Held Not Solely for the Purpose 
of Investment

Investment Shares Held Solely for the Purpose of Investment

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Compensation Paid to Directors and Executive Officers in the Fiscal Year Under Review

Classification
Number

of
persons

Fixed
compensation

(Millions of yen)

Performance-based
compensation

(Millions of yen)

Share
price-related
compensation

(Millions of yen)

Total
amount

(Millions of yen)

Directors (Internal) 4 9 1 – 10

Directors (Outside) 4 21 2 4 28

Executive Officers 8 177 24 34 235

Total 16 208 27 39 275

Notes:
1. Compensation for the three executive officers concurrently serving as Directors is segmented and stated in compensation for 

Directors (Internal) and executive officers, respectively. The number of executive officers concurrently serving as directors is 
stated as both Directors (Internal) and executive officers.

2. The point-based compensation in the above share price-related compensation in the fiscal year under review is the difference between 
the amount calculated by multiplying the points held by incumbent directors at the end of the fiscal year under review by the average 
closing price of Daikyo’s common stock on the Tokyo Stock Exchange during the first 30 trading days starting from the 45th trading 
day preceding the last day of the fiscal year under review and the amount calculated in the same way on the last day of the previous 
fiscal year.
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 (Millions of yen)

Classification
For the year ended March 31, 2012 For the year ended March 31, 2013

Compensation for 
audit certification services

Compensation for
other services

Compensation for 
audit certification services

Compensation for
other services

Daikyo (non-consolidated) 111 – 111 2

Consolidated subsidiaries 44 – 44 –

Total 156 – 156 2

No particular policy for the determination of compensation 
for the Company’s Certified Public Accountants and 
assistants, has been specified, but it is determined by 

considering the number of days reasonably deemed to 
be required, etc., based on of the scale of the Company’s 
business.

There are no applicable matters in the non-audit operations 
performed by Certified Public Accountants and assistants 
in the year ended March 31, 2012.

The non-audit operations performed by Certified Public 
Accountants and assistants in the year ended March 31, 
2013 consist of the issuance of comfort letters.

There are no notable matters.

Total Amount of Compensation for Auditors

Compensation Paid to Auditors in the Fiscal Year Under Review

Other Important Details Concerning Compensation

Details of Non-Audit Operations of the Company of Certified Public Accountants

Policy on the Determination of Auditors’ Compensation

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2013

FOR THE YEAR:

 Net sales ¥351,624 ¥318,356 ¥295,375 ¥298,697 ¥302,611 $3,217,550

 Gross profit (loss) (6,612) 36,527 39,416 46,712 48,635 517,122

 Selling, general and administrative expenses 37,464 27,428 25,818 24,643 26,533 282,123

 Operating income (loss) (44,076) 9,099 13,598 22,069 22,102 234,999

 Income (loss) before income taxes and 
 minority interest (52,065) 5,219 10,648 21,279 20,111 213,835

 Net income (loss) ¥(56,414) ¥6,307 ¥9,753 ¥21,787 ¥15,535 $165,180

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Daikyo Incorporated and its consolidated subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2009-2013

Notes: 1. All dollar figures herein refer to U.S. currency. Dollar amounts are translated from yen, for convenience only, at ¥94.05=US$1.00, the 
approximate exchange rate prevailing on March 31, 2013.

2. Per share data are based on the weighted-average number of common shares.

3. Shareholders’ equity ratio =  (Net assets - Share subscription rights - Minority interests)/ Total assets

4. Debt to equity ratio =  Interest-bearing debt/ (Net assets - Share subscription rights - Minority interests)
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Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2013

AT YEAR-END:

 Total assets ¥367,522 ¥330,457 ¥319,085 ¥290,261 ¥275,443 $2,928,683

 Interest-bearing debt 182,449 160,760 140,305 91,032 69,164 735,397

 Net assets 62,821 87,368 96,723 117,629 131,315 1,396,224

PER SHARE DATA (yen and U.S. dollars):

　Net income (loss) ¥(164.87) ¥16.52 ¥20.18 ¥47.43 ¥33.25 $0.35

　Net assets 79.81 116.67 136.78 184.10 214.99 2.29

RATIOS:

　Shareholders’ equity ratio (%) 17.1 26.4 30.3 40.5 47.7

　Debt to equity ratio (times) 2.91 1.84 1.45 0.77 0.53
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Real estate development and sales
Segment net sales were ¥158,900 million, down ¥6,463 million 
compared with the previous fiscal year and operating income 
was ¥14,923 million, down ¥1,151 million, owing to a decrease 
of 192 units in units sold to 3,961 units, and a decline of ¥5,261 
million to ¥152,749 million in mainstay condominium sales.

The number and amount of contracted condominium sales at 
the end of the fiscal year were 1,612 units and ¥65,090 million 
respectively. These two figures marked decreases of 666 units 
and ¥26,854 million compared with the end of the previous 
fiscal year.

Real estate management
In the Real estate management segment, management income 
increased ¥6,131 million year on year to ¥70,042 million, owing 
to such factors as the inclusion of the subsidiary Grand Amenity 
Ltd. in the scope of consolidation. In addition, income from 
contract work gained year on year by ¥4,164 million to ¥46,923 
million due to increases in planned repair and maintenance work 
on condominiums, as well as larger volumes of renovation work.

As a result of the above, segment net sales were ¥122,620 
million, up ¥11,190 million year on year, and operating income 
was ¥8,318 million, up ¥108 million.

The volume of contract work orders received at the end of 
the fiscal year was ¥15,753 million, an increase of ¥792 million 
compared with the end of the previous fiscal year.

Real estate brokerage
In the Real estate brokerage segment, real estate brokerage 
income rose ¥380 million year on year to ¥6,599 million, while 
income from existing real estate sales climbed ¥2,446 million 
to ¥11,779 million, amid a scenario of increasing numbers of 
brokerage transactions and units sold. The positive results in the 
segment were underpinned by favorable market conditions in 
the market for exsiting condominiums, and were also partially 
due to results from efforts undertaken in the previous fiscal year 
toward reorganizing operations.

As a result, segment net sales were ¥23,184 million, up 
¥2,596 million year on year, and operating income was ¥1,223 
million, up ¥1,672 million.

OVERVIEW
During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013, the Japanese 
economy weakened against a backdrop of prolonged yen 
appreciation and economic slowdown overseas, despite 
burgeoning improvement in domestic demand prompted by 
restoration and recovery work in the aftermath of the Great East 
Japan Earthquake. Nevertheless, signs of an economic upturn 
have become apparent despite downside risk from economic 
conditions overseas, amid increasingly positive consumer 
confidence and business sentiment overall backed by hopes 
pinned on economic and monetary policy undertaken by the 
Japanese government and the Bank of Japan since the end of 
last year.

In the condominium market, attention should remain focused 
on the supply-demand balance in areas where the Company 

provides condominiums. Meanwhile, the contract rate has 
been generally strong, reflecting firm demand along with a 
boost from low mortgage interest rates and the government’s 
stimulus policy for homebuyers. The market exhibited signs of 
further improvement at the start of the current year, prompted 
by anticipation of higher interest rates and home prices down the 
road among prospective buyers.

OPERATING RESULTS
In this business environment during the fiscal year under review, 
consolidated net sales rose ¥3,914 million or 1.3% year on year 
to ¥302,611 million, operating income increased ¥33 million 
or 0.1%, to ¥22,102 million, and ordinary income grew ¥1,030 
million, or 5.4%, to ¥20,270 million. Net income decreased 
¥6,252 million, or 28.7%, to ¥15,535 million.

RESULTS BY SEGMENT
The results are broken down by segment as follows. The amounts reported for each segment include inter-segment sales.

Performance by Segment Millions of yen

Category
Fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 Fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 Change

Net Sales Operating 
Income Net Sales Operating 

Income Net Sales Operating 
Income

Real Estate Development and Sales 165,363 16,074 158,900 14,923 (6,463) (1,151)

Real Estate Management 111,430 8,210 122,620 8,318 11,190 108

Real Estate Brokerage 20,588 (449) 23,184 1,223 2,596 1,672

Other 3,009 329 — — (3,009) (329)
Adjustments (Eliminations or 

Corporate Assets/Expenses) (1,693) (2,095) (2,093) (2,362) (400) (267)

  Total 298,697 22,069 302,611 22,102 3,914 33

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL CONDITION
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Total assets as of March 31, 2013 were ¥275,443 million, down 
¥14,818 million compared with the end of the previous fiscal 
year. This reflected declines of ¥35,853 million in inventories, 
which offset increases of ¥18,355 million in cash and deposits.

LIABILITIES
Total liabilities were ¥144,128 million, down ¥28,504 million 
compared with the end of the previous fiscal year. This resulted 
mainly from a ¥21,868 million decrease in interest-bearing debt 
and a ¥6,650 million decrease in notes and accounts payable.

A ¥10,000 million committed line of credit has been 
established with a financial institution in order to ensure flexible 
fund procurement.

NET ASSETS
Net assets gained ¥13,686 million from the end of the previous 
fiscal year to ¥131,315 million. This is the result of an increase 
of ¥13,605 million in retained earnings owing to net income 
recorded for the fiscal year under review, offset by payment 
of ¥1,929 million in common and preferred stock dividends. 
Furthermore, the shareholders’ equity ratio was 47.7%, 7.2 
percentage points higher than at the end of the previous fiscal 
year, and net assets per share amounted to ¥214.99, an increase 
of ¥30.89.

CASH FLOWS
As of March 31, 2013, the Group had cash and cash equivalents 
(hereinafter referred to as “cash”) of ¥115,706 million, up ¥15,051 
million compared with the end of the previous fiscal year.

Net cash provided by operating activities during the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2013 was ¥46,524 million, compared with 
¥56,666 million provided in the previous fiscal year. This reflects 
such factors as an increase in cash due to income before income 
taxes recorded for the period and a decrease in inventories, 
offset by a decrease in cash due in part to a decrease in notes 
and accounts payable-trade.

Net cash used in investing activities during the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2013 was ¥6,587 million, compared with ¥1,608 
million provided by investing activities in the previous fiscal year, 
owing mainly to purchases of fixed assets and acquisitions of 
subsidiary shares.

Net cash used in financing activities was ¥24,905 million, 
compared with ¥50,150 million decrease in the previous fiscal 
year.

This reflects such factors as a decrease in cash owing mainly 
to repayment of borrowings and the redemption of bonds, offset 
by an increase in cash due to issue of bonds.

RISK FACTORS
Items within this report that are not statements of historical 
fact constitute forward-looking statements that are based on 
management’s evaluation of circumstances as of the fiscal 
year-end. Accordingly, statements may differ materially from 
actual results due to changes in the economic environment and 
operating conditions.

As of March 31, 2013, the Group has identified certain risks that 
it believes may materially impact its performance and financial 
position. In addition, readers are advised that unforeseen risks 
that can significantly affect the Group’s performance and 
financial position may arise in the future due to changes in the 
economic environment and operating conditions.

The Group is committed to identifying risks on an individual 
basis and appropriately evaluating each one in an effort to 
establish an optimal risk management system.

The major risks identified as of March 31, 2013 are as follows.

REAL ESTATE MARKET RISK 
The performance of the condominium development and sales, 
the mainstay activity of the Real estate development and sales 
segment, may experience fluctuations due to the impact of 
market conditions. To be more specific, the Group is particularly 
susceptible to movements in land prices and construction costs, 
the supply of condominiums by and the product prices of its 
competitors. In addition, a significant drop in housing demand 
could be caused in the case of an increase in interest rates, 
an economic downturn, or deterioration in corporate earnings, 
personal consumption or changes in real estate-related taxes 
brought about by fluctuating economic conditions. As a result, 
a decline in the value of assets held may affect the Group’s 
performance and financial position.

Regarding real estate inventories held, in the event that there 
is a major decrease in prices due to such factors as a worsening 
of market conditions, losses may be incurred accompanying 
the loss on devaluation of inventories held by the Group. 
Consequently, the performance and financial position of the 
Group may be affected.

REAL ESTATE MANAGEMENT MARKET RISK 
The Group performance may be adversely affected by the prospect 
of industry price levels related to the real estate management 
business’ management fees entering a prolonged decline.

OTHER MARKET RISKS (LIQUIDITY, INTEREST RATE, SHARE 
PRICE AND CURRENCY EXCHANGE FLUCTUATIONS)
Funding to support the Real estate development and sales 
segment is mainly procured from financial institutions in the 
form of debt. In the event that the Group’s credit capacity 
decreases due to deteriorating performance, the procurement 
of financing becomes difficult due to a worsening financial 
situation or existing interest rates rise above expectations, the 
Group’s performance may be affected.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
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As part of its operating and investment activities, the Group 
maintains equity in publicly listed and private companies. In the 
event of a significant devaluation in the Group’s holdings due to 
an across-the-board and substantial decline in share prices, the 
Group’s performance may be affected.

In addition, the Group, which has an overseas subsidiary in 
Taiwan, may be adversely affected by the appreciation in the value 
of the yen over Taiwan dollars due to currency exchange rates.

CREDIT RISK
In the course of operations of Real estate development and sales 
and Real estate management, the Group enters into construction 
agreements with a number of construction and contracting 
companies. In the event that a construction company suffers a 
material loss of credibility, which contributes to a delay in project 
completion, the Group’s performance may be affected.

CONDOMINIUM DEVELOPMENT AND SALES RISKS
The Group is engaged in the evaluation and survey of development 
sites, acquisition, condominium design, construction and sales. 
As such, an individual development project extends over a 
significant period before income is collected and secured.

Furthermore, the Group’s condominium development and 
sales business is subject to a variety of public authority approvals 
and procedures, including explanations of planned developments 
to local and neighboring residents. Accordingly, the Group is 
subject to a variety of business risks that could adversely affect 
performance. These risks are outlined as follows.

Opposition by Local and Neighboring Residents
In addition to acquiring all necessary approvals stipulated 
under the Building Standards Act, the City Planning Act 
and other related laws for each particular condominium 
development, as well as adhering to local government 
guidelines, the Group strives to obtain the opinions of 
neighboring residents and the local community.

At the same time, the Group endeavors to ensure harmony 
with the local environment and protect natural surroundings. 
Notwithstanding the acquisition of necessary approval, 
in the event the Group is forced to delay the development 
process or amend its initial sales plans due to opposition 
and negotiations with local and neighboring residents, the 
Group’s performance may be affected.

Site Risk, Soil Contamination
Prior to acquiring land for condominium development, 
the Group makes every possible effort to ascertain the 
presence of buried objects, soil pollution caused by chemical 
substances that are not suitable for living environment. In 
addition, the Group imposes a liability on the seller at the 
time of purchase and sale agreement execution to cover soil 
contamination and damage in an effort to minimize risk.

In the event, however, any ensuing damage materially 

exceeds expectations or the seller is unable to meet the 
amount of damages incurred, thereby resulting in changes in 
original development plans, delay in completion or increase 
in costs, the Group’s business performance may be affected.

Incidence of Defects
With regard to condominium construction work, the Group 
places orders with construction companies that possess 
sufficient technical expertise, based on its own in-house 
standards, and has systems in place to comply with mandatory 
building regulations, including earthquake resistance. In 
addition to enforcing strict quality management controls 
that meet proprietary quality and design standards and 
those of technical reviews upon each construction project, 
multiple checks are carried out at each stage of design and 
construction.

In the event, however, any unforeseen circumstance 
involving an incidence of a design or construction defect 
arose, the Group could be held liable and incur repair work 
and compensation costs. The terms and extent any such loss 
may affect Group performance.

OPERATIONAL RISK
The Group is aware that it faces a wide range of operational 
risks in the performance of its business, such as improper 
sales practices, employee fraud, administrative errors and the 
occurrence of labor disputes. The Group endeavors to control such 
operational risks and maintain a reasonable level of management 
control. However, the Group’s business performance may be 
affected should a decline in sales result from the Group falling 
into disrepute or incurring payments for damages stemming 
from a case involving any of the abovementioned risks.

LEGAL RISK
Because the businesses conducted by the Group are subject to 
real estate-related laws, the Group’s performance may be affected 
by new obligations and higher expenses arising from possible 
amendments made to real estate-related laws, such as the 
Building Lots and Buildings Transaction Business Act, the Building 
Standards Act, the City Planning Act, the Act on Advancement of 
Proper Condominium Management and the Construction Business 
Act, or if new real estate-related laws are established.

PERSONAL INFORMATION RISK
The Group maintains a significant volume of personal information 
on parties such as real estate purchasers, individuals contemplating 
the purchase of real estate and compartmentalized owners in the 
real estate management business. The Group maintains internal 
rules and systems to handle personal information in accordance 
with the Personal Information Protection Act. However, in the event 
of an unforeseen circumstance whereby personal information is 
lost or leaked, resulting in loss of credibility, a decline in sales or 
a claim for damages, the Group’s performance may be affected.
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SYSTEM RISK
The Group implements measures including data backup to ensure 
the safety and reliability of its computer systems. In the event 
of unforeseen circumstances in which the Group’s systems are 
suspended, resulting in damages that significantly impact the 
Group’s business process and activities, performance may be 
affected.

DISASTER RISK 
The Group’s performance may be affected by earthquakes 
or other natural disasters, including wind and flood damage, 
accidents, and fires, or by terrorist attacks.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
The Group has accrued tax loss carry-forwards, which are 
recorded under deferred tax assets in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. Deferred tax assets are recorded after 
consideration of the likelihood of realization, based on forecasts 
of future taxable income. However, deferred tax assets may 
have an impact on the Group’s net income for the period in the 
event of an adjustment becoming necessary due to subsequent 
business performance.

Once the tax loss carry-forwards are fully used or have expired 
within the allowable number of years under tax regulations, the 
tax benefit is regarded as having been lost, and the Group will 
be required to pay corporation tax at the standard rate, which will 
affect on Group’s net income and cash flows.

GOODWILL 
The Group accounts for goodwill occurring in conjunction 
with business acquisitions. The Group believes that its future 
earnings power, gained from results demonstrated in the 
value of each business and the synergistic effects of business 
integration, is appropriately reflected in the goodwill recorded 
in the balance sheet. However, if anticipated performance does 
not occur due to such factors as changes in business conditions 
and competition, impairment losses could be incurred that may 
affect the Group’s performance.

PREFERRED STOCK
The Class 1, Class 2, Class 4, Class 7 and Class 8 preferred stock 
issued by the Company (collectively “preferred stock”) include 
acquisition rights which provide that a holder of preferred stock 
can request that the Company acquires their preferred stock in 
exchange for common stock.

The period for requesting acquisition of such preferred stock is 

18 years from October 1, 2007 for Class 1 and Class 2 preferred 
stock, 20 years from October 1, 2009 for Class 4 preferred 
stock, and 20 years from April 1, 2011 for Class 7 and Class 8 
preferred stock. Should common stocks be issued in accordance 
with a request for acquisition of preferred stock, the number of 
the common stocks will increase and consequently the price of 
the common stocks may be affected. However, as of June 20, 
2013 the Company has received no requests for acquisition of 
any such preferred stock.

RELATIONSHIP WITH THE ORIX GROUP
On January 31, 2005, the Company concluded a capital 
participation agreement between ORIX Corporation and the 
Company, stipulating the allocation of new shares to a third party, 
and to cooperate in the rehabilitation process of the Company. 
The relationship between the Group and ORIX Corporation and 
its subsidiaries and affiliates (hereinafter referred to as “ORIX 
Group”) as of March 31, 2013, is stated below.

Capital Relationship
ORIX Corporation holds 227,883 thousand of the Company’s 
shares (139,285 thousand in common stock and 88,598 
thousand in preferred stock), accounting for 42.68% of the 
Company’s outstanding shares (26.09% in common stock 
and 16.59% in preferred stock). ORIX Corporation holds 
31.7% of the voting rights attributable to the Company’s 
shares (including 0.0% held indirectly), and the Company 
is an affiliate of ORIX Corporation pursuant to the equity 
method of accounting.

 
Personal Relationship
One of the Group’s officers also serves as an officer in the 
ORIX Group, and three of the Group’s officers have been 
seconded from the ORIX Group (one serves in the Company 
and two in a subsidiary).

Business Relationship
The Group conducts business with the ORIX Group involving 
joint projects and contract sales related to condominium 
sales.

Although the Group conducts its operations independently, 
the Group’s credibility and operations may be affected by any 
changes in the relationship with the ORIX Group, such as the 
dissolution of the capital participation agreement.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
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Class 1 Class 2

Amount of issue ¥4.0 billion ¥4.5 billion

Number of shares issued 10 million shares 11.25 million shares

Issued price ¥400 ¥400

Shareholder ORIX Corporation ORIX Corporation

Preferred dividends

Cap price ¥40 ¥40

Amount of preferred dividends ¥400 x (JY TIBOR* + 1.75%) ¥400×(JY TIBOR* + 1.75%)

Participating/cumulative Non-participating/non-cumulative Non-participating/non-cumulative

Right to receive residual assets  
upon liquidation

¥400 ¥400

Voting rights No voting right No voting right

Revival clause When preferred dividends are not possible No revival clause

Stock splits/ Reverse stock splits
No stock splits,  

no reverse stock splits
No stock splits,  

no reverse stock splits

Conversion at holders' option

Initial conversion price ¥444.0 ¥79.1

Revision of conversion price
Downward revision Downward revision

At market price every year on Oct 1 
from 2008 onwards

At market price every year on Oct 1 
from 2008 onwards

Adjustment of conversion price
Conversion price is adjusted in specific 

situations
Conversion price is adjusted in specific 

situations

Floor price ¥351.6 ¥63.3

Conversion period 18 years from Oct 1, 2007 18 years from Oct 1, 2007

Conversion at company's  initiative

Maturity date of conversion at 
company's initiative

Oct 1, 2025 Oct 1, 2025

Conversion price**
Average of closing prices for 30 consecutive 

trading days
Average of closing prices for 30 consecutive 

trading days 

Floor price ¥355.2 ¥69.8

Ranking between each class Pari passu Pari passu

*For each class of preferred stock, Japanese Yen TIBOR generally means Japanese Yen Tokyo Inter-Bank Offered Rate for one-year as at the first day 
of each fiscal year publicized by Japanese Bankers Association (zenginkyo). For Class 1, Class 2 and Class 4 preferred stock, Japanese Yen TIBOR or 
the figure used in lieu of this is calculated to the 4th decimal after whole percentages, and rounded to the 3rd decimal. For Class 7 and Class 8 preferred 
stock, Japanese Yen TIBOR or the figure used in lieu of this is calculated to the 2nd decimal after whole percentages, and rounded to the 1st decimal.
 

OVERVIEW OF PREFERRED STOCK
As of March 31, 2013
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Class 4 Class 7 Class 8

¥7.5 billion ¥10.0 billion ¥9,439 million

18.75 million shares 25 million shares 23,598,144 shares

¥400 ¥400 ¥400

ORIX Corporation ORIX Corporation ORIX Corporation

¥40 ¥40 ¥40

¥400×(JY TIBOR* + 1.75%) ¥400×(JY TIBOR* + 2.00%) ¥400×(JY TIBOR* + 2.00%)

Non-participating/non-cumulative Non-participating/non-cumulative Non-participating/non-cumulative

¥400 ¥400 ¥400

No voting right No voting right No voting right

No revival clause No revival clause No revival clause

No stock splits,  
no reverse stock splits

No stock splits,  
no reverse stock splits

No stock splits,  
no reverse stock splits

¥79.1 ¥101.0 ¥64.0

Downward revision Downward revision Downward revision

At market price every year on Oct 1 
from 2010 onwards

At market price every year on Apr 1 
from 2011 onwards

At market price every year on Apr 1
from 2011 onwards

Conversion price is adjusted in specific 
situations

Conversion price is adjusted in specific 
situations

Conversion price is adjusted in specific 
situations

¥55.4 ¥80.8 (80% of the initial conversion price) ¥51.2 (80% of the initial conversion price)

20 years from Oct 1, 2009 20 years from Apr 1, 2011 20 years from Apr 1, 2011

Oct 1, 2029 Apr 1, 2031 Apr 1, 2031

Average of closing prices for 30 consecutive 
trading days 

Average of closing prices for 30 consecutive 
trading days 

Average of closing prices for 30 consecutive 
trading days 

¥61.1 ¥80.8 ¥51.2

Pari passu Pari passu Pari passu

**The average of closing prices for 30 consecutive trading days, which is used as the conversion price, is the average of closing prices for 30 
consecutive trading days beginning on the 45th trading day before the maturity date of conversion at the company's initiative.

OVERVIEW OF PREFERRED STOCK
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Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 4)

ASSETS 2012 2013 2013

CURRENT ASSETS:

 Cash and deposits (Notes 6 and 9 and 16) ¥97,679 ¥116,034 $1,233,745 

 Notes and accounts receivable-trade (Notes 6 and 9) 11,016 12,666 134,673 

 Allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 6) (38) (27) (284)

 Marketable securities (Notes 6 and 7) 3,055 100 1,063 

 Inventories (Notes 5 and 9) 131,804 95,951 1,020,212 

 Advance payments 250 553 5,884 

 Deferred tax assets (Note 11) 6,240 4,423 47,030 

 Prepaid expenses and other current assets 7,889 6,453 68,605 

  Total current assets 257,895 236,153 2,510,928 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:

 Land (Note 9) 9,330 12,348 131,290 

 Buildings and structures (Note 9) 5,516 5,904 62,775 

 Furniture and other equipment 1,241 1,382 14,692 

16,087 19,634 208,757 

 Accumulated depreciation (3,936) (3,756) (39,932)

  Net property and equipment 12,151 15,878 168,825 

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS:

 Investment securities (Notes 6 and 7) 1,445 1,804 19,183 

 Other investments 1,158 1,333 14,177 

 Allowance for doubtful accounts (268) (282) (3,003)

 Deferred tax assets (Note 11) 462 439 4,667 

 Goodwill 11,166 11,131 118,356 

 Other assets (Note 9) 6,252 8,987 95,550 

  Total investments and other assets 20,215 23,412 248,930 

  Total assets ¥290,261 ¥275,443 $2,928,683 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of March 31, 2012 and 2013

26



Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 4)

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 2012 2013 2013

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

 Short-term borrowings (Notes 6 and 9) ¥2,050 ¥276 $2,935 

 Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 6 and 9) 32,108 19,657 209,003 

 Commercial papers (Notes 6 and 9) 500 - -

 Notes and accounts payable-trade (Note 6) 40,600 33,950 360,974 

 Advances received 14,938 10,388 110,457 

 Accrued expenses 3,625 4,120 43,808 

 Income taxes payable (Note 11) 1,098 1,127 11,985 

 Other current liabilities 10,831 13,126 139,559 

  Total current liabilities 105,750 82,644 878,721 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:

 Long-term debt  (Notes 6 and 9) 56,374 49,231 523,459 

 Deferred tax liabilities (Note 11) - 655 6,959 

 Allowance for employees’ retirement benefits (Note 10) 3,863 4,638 49,312 

 Other liabilities 6,645 6,960 74,008 

  Total long-term liabilities 66,882 61,484 653,738 

  Total liabilities 172,632 144,128 1,532,459 

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Note 12)

NET ASSETS: (Note 13)

Shareholders’ equity:

 Capital stock

  Common stock

  Authorized:  1,152,400,000 shares at March 31, 2012 and 2013

  Issued: 445,337,738 shares at March 31, 2012 and 2013

  Preferred stock (Note 14)

  Authorized:  88,600,000 shares at March 31, 2012 and 2013

  Issued: 88,598,144 shares at March 31, 2012 and 2013 41,172 41,172 437,762 

 Capital surplus 38,098 38,098 405,085 

 Retained earnings 39,581 53,186 565,513 

 Treasury stock (1,310) (1,314) (13,972)
117,541 131,142 1,394,388 

Accumulated other comprehensive income:

 Net unrealized gains on other securities (Note 7) 126 193 2,051 

 Foreign currency translation adjustments (38) (45) (478)

88 148 1,573 

 Minority interests - 25 263 

  Total net assets 117,629 131,315 1,396,224 

  Total liabilities and net assets ¥290,261 ¥275,443 $2,928,683 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of March 31, 2012 and 2013

27



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 4)
2012 2013 2013

NET SALES ¥298,697 ¥302,611 $3,217,550 

COST OF SALES 251,985 253,976 2,700,428 
  Gross profit 46,712 48,635 517,122 

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 24,643 26,533 282,123 
  Operating income 22,069 22,102 234,999 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES):
 Interest and dividend income 73 193 2,048 
 Interest expense (2,495) (1,445) (15,361)
 Gain on sales of property and equipment 3 – –
 Gain on negative goodwill – 606 6,439 
 Gain on sales of stocks of a subsidiary 2,176 – –
 Impairment loss on fixed assets – (624) (6,637)
 Other, net (547) (721) (7,653)
  Income before income taxes 21,279 20,111 213,835 

INCOME TAXES (Note 11):
 Current 1,471 2,562 27,245 
 Deferred (1,979) 2,011 21,383 
  Income before minority interests 21,787 15,538 165,207 
  Minority interests in income – 3 27 
  Net income ¥21,787 ¥15,535 $165,180 

 Yen U.S. dollars (Note 4)
PER SHARE:
 Net income ¥47.43 ¥33.25 $0.35 
 Fully diluted net income 25.59 18.24 0.19 
 Cash dividends - common stock 2.50 3.00 0.03 
 Cash dividends - Preferred stock Class 1 8.88 8.84 0.09 
 Cash dividends - Preferred stock Class 2 8.88 8.84 0.09 
 Cash dividends - Preferred stock Class 4 8.00 8.84 0.09 
 Cash dividends - Preferred stock Class 7 10.00 10.00 0.11 
 Cash dividends - Preferred stock Class 8 10.00 10.00 0.11 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 4)
2012 2013 2013

 Income before minority interests ¥21,787 ¥15,538 $165,207 
 Other comprehensive income
  Net unrealized gains on other securities (45) 67 705 
  Foreign currency translation adjustment (4) (7) (76)
 Total other comprehensive income (49) 60 629 
 Comprehensive income (Note 15) ¥21,738 ¥15,598 $165,836 
  Comprehensive income attributable to owners of the parent 21,7321,738 21,715,595 165,809 
  Comprehensive income attributable to minority interests – 3 27

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2013
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Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 4)

2012 2013 2013

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Capital Stock:

 BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR ¥41,172 ¥41,172 $437,762 

 Changes during the year – – –

 BALANCE, END OF YEAR 41,172 41,172 437,762 

Capital Surplus:

 BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR 38,098 38,098 405,085 

 Changes during the year 

     Retirement of treasury stock (4) – –

     Transfer from retained earnings to capital surplus 4 – – 

 BALANCE, END OF YEAR 38,098 38,098 405,085 

Retained Earnings:

 BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR 18,632 39,581 420,850 

 Changes during the year 

     Cash dividends (834) (1,930) (20,517)

     Net income 21,787 15,535 165,180 

     Transfer from retained earnings to capital surplus (4) – –

 BALANCE, END OF YEAR 39,581 53,186 565,513 

Treasury Stock:

 BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR (1,316) (1,310) (13,931)

 Changes during the year 

     Acquisition of treasury stock (1) (4) (41)

     Retirement of treasury stock 7 – – 

 BALANCE, END OF YEAR (1,310) (1,314) (13,972)

Total Shareholders’ Equity:

 BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR 96,586 117,541 1,249,766 

 Changes during the year, net 20,955 13,601 144,622 

 BALANCE, END OF YEAR ¥117,541 ¥131,142 $1,394,388 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
For the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2013
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Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 4)

2012 2013 2013

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Net Unrealized Gains on Other Securities:

 BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR ¥171 ¥126 $1,346 

 Changes during the year, net (45) 67 705 

 BALANCE, END OF YEAR 126 193 2,051 

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments:

 BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR (34) (38) (402)

 Changes during the year, net (4) (7) (76)

 BALANCE, END OF YEAR (38) (45) (478)

Total Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income:

 BALANCE,BEGINNING OF YEAR 137 88 944 

 Changes during the year, net (49) 60 629 

 BALANCE, END OF YEAR 88 148 1,573 

MINORITY INTERESTS

 BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR – – –

 Changes during the year, net – 25 263

 BALANCE, END OF YEAR – 25 263

TOTAL NET ASSETS

 BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR 96,723 117,629 1,250,710 

 Changes during the year 

    Cash dividends (834) (1,930) (20,517)

    Net income 21,787 15,535 165,180 

    Acquisition of treasury stock (1) (4) (41)

    Retirement of treasury stock 3 – –

    Other changes during the year, net (49) 85 892 

 BALANCE, END OF YEAR ¥117,629 ¥131,315 $1,396,224 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS (CONTINUED)
For the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2013
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Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 4)
2012 2013 2013

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
 Net income before income taxes ¥21,279 ¥20,111 $213,835 
 Adjustments for:
  Depreciation and amortization 1,468 1,773 18,848 
  Impairment loss on fixed assets – 624 6,637 
  Provision for allowance for doubtful accounts (195) – –
  Gain on negative goodwill – (606) (6,439)
  Interest and dividend income (73) (193) (2,048)
  Interest expense 2,495 1,445 15,361 
  Gain on sales of stocks of a subsidiary (2,176) – –
  Loss on sales and retirement of property and equipment 134 103 1,100 
 Changes in notes and accounts receivable-trade (1,709) (262) (2,790)
 Changes in advances received (1,795) (4,793) (50,957)
 Changes in real estate inventories and advance payments 38,481 35,549 377,980 
 Changes in notes and accounts payable-trade 3,247 (7,835) (83,311)
 Changes in deposits payable (321) 1,112 11,826 
 Other (937) 1,345 14,286 
   Subtotal 59,898 48,373 514,328 
 Interest and dividends received 72 189 2,007 
 Interest paid (2,496) (1,416) (15,046)
 Income taxes paid (808) (622) (6,617)
    Net cash provided by operating activities 56,666 46,524 494,672 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Payments for purchase of property and equipment and intangible assets (1,059) (5,290) (56,247)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment and intangible assets 5 850 9,037 
Payments for purchase of marketable securities – (100) (1,063)
Proceeds from sales and redemption of securities 30 55 585 
Payments for purchase of investment securities (2) (2) (21)
Payments for purchase of stocks of a subsidiary resulting in change 
in scope of consolidation – (2,258) (24,011)

Proceeds from purchase of stocks of a subsidiary resulting in change 
in scope of consolidation – 44 472 

Proceeds from sales of stocks of a subsidiary resulting in 
change in scope of consolidation 2,709 – –

 Other (75) 114 1,212 
    Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1,608 (6,587) (70,036)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Changes in short-term borrowings (893) (2,239) (23,801)
Changes in commercial papers (3,500) (500) (5,316)
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 31,084 26,751 284,438 
Repayment of long-term borrowings (62,968) (43,904) (466,813)
Proceeds from issuance of bonds – 6,956 73,960 
Payments for redemption of bonds (13,000) (10,000) (106,326)
Cash dividends paid (835) (1,923) (20,443)
Other (38) (46) (506)

    Net cash used in financing activities (50,150) (24,905) (264,807)
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (3) 19 205
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ¥8,121 ¥15,051 $160,034 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 92,534 100,655 1,070,227 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (Note 16) ¥100,655 ¥115,706 $1,230,261 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2013
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01   BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of DAIKYO INCORPORATED (the “Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries 
(collectively, the “Group”) have been prepared in accordance with the provisions set forth in the Japanese Financial Instruments 
and Exchange Act and its related accounting regulations, and in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan 
(“Japanese GAAP”), which are different in certain respects as to application and disclosure requirements from International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

The accounting policies of the overseas subsidiary are basically integrated with those of the Company unless they are prepared 
differently in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards or U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, in which 
case a limited number of items have been adjusted to the Japanese GAAP. The accompanying consolidated financial statements 
have been restructured and translated into English (with certain expanded disclosures) from the consolidated financial statements 
of the Company prepared in accordance with Japanese GAAP and filed with the appropriate Local Finance Bureau of the Ministry 
of Finance as required by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act. Certain supplementary information included in the statutory 
Japanese lan¬guage consolidated financial statements, but not required for fair presentation, is not presented in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements. 

Certain prior year amounts in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto have been reclassified to conform to the 
current year presentation.

02   ACCOUNTING CHANGES
(1) DEPRECIATION METHOD OF PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
Effective from the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013, the Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries changed the 
depreciation method of property and equipment due to the revision of Corporation Tax Act. Assets acquired on or after April 1, 2012 
are depreciated using the method prescribed Corporation Tax Act. The effects of this change on operating income and income before 
income taxes were insignificant.

03   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(1) CONSOLIDATION
The Company has fourteen subsidiaries at March 31, 2013 (eleven subsidiaries at March 31, 2012). The consolidated financial 
statements include the accounts of the Company and eleven significant subsidiaries at March 31, 2013 (ten for 2012).

The major subsidiaries consolidated with the Company at the year ended March 31, 2013 are as follows:

Equity ownership percentage

DAIKYO ASTAGE INCORPORATED 100%

DAIKYO REALDO INCORPORATED 100

ORIX Facilities Corporation 100

All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(2) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Held-to-maturity debt securities that the Company and its subsidiaries have and intend to hold until maturity are stated at amortized 
cost. Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries not accounted for under the equity method are stated at cost using the moving-
average method. Other securities with quoted market prices are stated at their quoted market prices at the balance sheet date, and 
other securities where quoted market prices are not available are stated at cost using the moving-average method. Net unrealized 
gains or losses on other securities are reported as a separate component of Net Assets, net of applicable income taxes. 

In cases where the fair value of held-to-maturity debt securities or other securities has declined significantly and such impairment 
of the value is considered other than temporary, the difference between the carrying amount and its fair value is recognized as an 
impairment loss, and is reported in the consolidated statement of income for the period. 

Debt securities maturing within one year are presented as “current” and all the other securities are presented as “non-current” on 
the consolidated balance sheet.

DAIKYO INCORPORATED AND ITS CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2013
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(3) INVENTORIES AND BASIS OF REVENUE RECOGNITION
Real estate for sale (being real estate held for sale), real estate for sale in progress (being real estate held for sale before completion), 
and real estate for development projects (being real estate from the time the Group acquires the legal title until the time the 
construction approval is granted) are stated at cost, using the specific identification method. 

The write-down of inventories due to decreased profitability is reflected in the valuation of the respective asset components and 
the accompanying loss is recognized as cost of sales, in principle. The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries recorded a write-
down on the value of inventory of ¥1,534 million and ¥2,483 million ($ 26,396 thousand) for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 
2013, respectively.

Revenue from sales of condominiums and land is recognized when units are delivered and accepted by the customers. Revenue 
from leasing of office space and shops is recognized as rent accrued over the life of the lease. 

Revenue and its related costs from construction work are recognized by the percentage-of-completion method, with the exception 
of short-term contracts. If the outcome of the construction activity is not deemed certain during the course of the activity, the 
completed contract method is applied.

(4) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment, including significant renewals and improvements, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. 
Maintenance and repairs, including minor renewals and betterments, are charged to income as incurred. Depreciation is computed 
on the declining-balance method for property and equipment except for buildings, which are computed mostly on the straight-line 
method, based on the estimated useful lives of the assets. 

Fixed assets are reviewed for impairment wherever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an 
asset may not be recoverable. If an asset is considered to be impaired, the impairment loss is recognized for the period. 

When retired or disposed of, the difference between the net book value and sales proceeds is charged or credited to income. 
Estimated useful lives for buildings and structures range from 3 to 60 years.

(5) GOODWILL
Goodwill is amortized using the straight-line method over periods of 14 to 20 years.

Negative goodwill resulted from business combinations made prior to April 1, 2010 is amortized using the straight-line method for 
20 years.

(6) ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS
A general allowance for doubtful accounts is provided at an amount calculated based on historical loss experience, while specific 
allowances for doubtful accounts are provided for the estimated amounts considered to be uncollectible after reviewing and assessing 
collectability of individual accounts.

(7) RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The Company and its domestic subsidiaries have severance indemnity plans, non-contributory defined benefit funded pension plans 
and defined contribution pension plans, covering substantially all of their employees who meet eligibility requirements under the 
retirement regulations. Under the plans, employees whose service with the Company is terminated are, under most circumstances, 
entitled to lump-sum severance indemnities and/or pension annuity payments, determined by reference to current basic rate of pay, 
length of service and conditions under which the termination occurs.

The Company and certain domestic subsidiaries also have contributory defined contribution pension plans, covering substantially 
all of their employees. The pension benefits are determined based on years of service and the compensation amount as stipulated 
in the regulations. 

The allowance for employees’ retirement benefits is recognized based on the estimated present value of projected benefit 
obligations in excess of the fair value of the plan assets at the end of each fiscal year. Prior service costs are expensed as incurred. 
Transition amount is amortized under the straight-line method for 15 years. Net actuarial gains or losses are amortized under the 
straight-line method over 5 to 8 years, based on the employees’ average remaining service period, commencing from the following 
fiscal year after they arise.

(8) DIRECTORS’ RETIREMENT BENEFITS
Provision for the retirement benefits for directors is based on the estimated future payments to directors in accordance with the 
Company’s internal rules and regulations.
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(9) INCOME TAXES
The provision for income taxes is computed based on income before income taxes in the consolidated statements of income. The 
asset and liability approach is used to recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of 
temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax basis of the assets and liabilities and the tax loss carryforwards. The 
Company and its wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries have adopted the consolidated taxation system.

(10) LEASE CONTRACTS
(Lease assets related to finance leases that do not transfer ownership) 
Depreciation of assets used under finance leases that do not transfer ownership is calculated based on the assumption that the useful 
life equals to the lease term and the residual value equals to zero. Finance leases that do not transfer ownership and commenced 
prior to April 1, 2008 continue to be accounted for in a manner similar to the accounting treatment for ordinary rental transactions.

(11) STOCK OPTIONS
On June 28, 2005, the shareholders of the Company approved the issuance of stock options to the directors and certain employees 
of the Company and its subsidiaries. The stock options are exercis¬able from June 29, 2007 to June 28, 2015. If all stock options 
out¬standing at March 31, 2013 had been exercised, 3,774,000 shares of common stock of the Company would have been newly 
issued. The exercise price of the options was set at ¥387 ($4.11) at the date of grant.

(12) NET INCOME AND FULLY DILUTED NET INCOME PER SHARE
Net income per share is computed based on the weighted aver¬age number of shares of common stock issued and outstanding 
during each fiscal period. 

Diluted net income per share is computed based on the net income available for distribution to the shareholders and the weighted 
average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year after giving effect to the dilutive potential of shares of 
common stock to be issued upon the exercise of preferred stock and stock subscription rights.

(13) NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET ADOPTED
The new accounting standards and other pronouncements that have been issued which the Company and its subsidiaries have not 
yet adopted as of March 31, 2013 are as follows.
(Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits)

• Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits (Statement No.26 issued by ASBJ on May 17, 2012)
• Guidance on Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits (Guidance No.25 issued by ASBJ on May 17, 2012)
The Company and its subsidiaries will adopt this accounting standard from the end of the fiscal year ending March 31, 2014. 

However, the Company and its subsidiaries will adopt amendments relating to determination of retirement benefit obligation and 
current service costs from the beginning of the fiscal year ending March 31, 2015.

The impact of the adoption of this accounting standard is currently under assessment.

04   U.S. DOLLAR PRESENTATION
The Company and its subsidiaries maintain their accounting records in Japanese yen. 

The translation of yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts is included using the prevailing exchange rate at March 31, 2013, which 
is ¥94.05 to U.S.$1.00. The inclusion of such U.S. dollar amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements is solely 
for the convenience of the reader and is not intended to imply that Japanese yen amounts have been or could be readily converted, 
realized or settled in U.S. dollar at the prevailing or any other exchange rate.

DAIKYO INCORPORATED AND ITS CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2013

34



05   INVENTORIES
Inventories at March 31, 2012 and 2013 consisted of:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

Real estate for sale ¥20,843 ¥20,837 $221,550

Real estate for sale in progress 89,657 57,022 606,293

Real estate for development projects 19,912 16,701 177,578

Other 1,392 1,391 14,791

  Total ¥131,804 ¥95,951 $1,020,212

06   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Information on financial instruments for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 is as follows:

 
(1) CONDITION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Policies concerning financial instruments
The Group procures funds required primarily for its condominium business through borrowings from financial institutions and the 
issuance of bonds. Temporary excess funds are managed using highly stable financial instruments.

(b) Content and risk of financial instruments, and risk management system
Notes and accounts receivable–trade are subject to the credit risk of customers. With regard to such risk, the Group is taking 
steps to mitigate the risk by managing the payment deadlines and outstanding balance of each party, requesting periodic reports 
on delinquent receivables, and quickly ascertaining conditions regarding collection. 

Marketable and investment securities are primarily bonds that the Group intends to hold until maturity and the shares of 
companies with which the Group holds business relationships, and these are subject to the risk of fluctuations in market prices. 
With regard to such risk, their fair values and financial conditions of the issuers are periodically monitored. The holding of securities 
other than bonds held until maturity is continually reviewed.

Notes and accounts payable–trade are mostly due within one year.
Borrowings and bonds are primarily used for procuring funds for the condominium business.
Trade receivables, borrowings and bonds present liquidity risks, but the Group manages such risks by preparing cash flow plans 

and revising these as appropriate.

(c) Supplementary explanation concerning financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments includes value based on market prices and also value calculated rationally when there is 
no market price. As variable factors are incorporated into the calculation of such values, the values may change as a result of the 
adoption of different assumptions, etc.
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(2) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The consolidated balance sheet amount, fair value and difference as of March 31, 2012 and 2013 are shown below. However, items 
for which it is extremely difficult to determine the fair value have not been included in the following table:

Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31, 2012
Consolidated balance 

sheet amount Fair value Difference

(1) Cash and deposits ¥97,679 ¥97,679      ¥–

(2) Notes and accounts receivable-trade 11,016

     Allowance for doubtful accounts(*) (29)

¥10,987 ¥10,987      ¥–

(3) Marketable and investment securities

    1) Held-to-maturity securities 3,127 3,129 2

    2) Other securities 704 704    –

Total assets ¥112,497 ¥112,499 ¥2

(1) Notes and accounts payable-trade ¥40,600 ¥40,600      ¥–

(2) Shot-term borrowings and

     Current portion of long-term borrowings 24,122 24,113 (9)

(3) Commercial papers 500 500    –

(4) Bonds due within one year 10,000 9,998 (2)

(5) Long-term borrowings 56,298 56,192 (106)

Total liabilities ¥131,520 ¥131,403 ¥(117)

Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31, 2013
Consolidated balance 

sheet amount Fair value Difference

(1) Cash and deposits ¥116,034 ¥116,034      ¥–

(2) Notes and accounts receivable-trade 12,666

     Allowance for doubtful accounts(*)  (12)

¥12,654 ¥12,654      ¥–

(3) Marketable and investment securities

     1) Held-to-maturity securities 173 175 2

     2) Other securities 904 904       –

Total assets ¥129,765 ¥129,767 ¥2

(1) Notes and accounts payable-trade ¥33,950 ¥33,947 ¥3

(2) Shot-term borrowings and

     Current portion of long-term borrowings 19,904 19,909 5

(3) Bonds 7,000 7,038 38

(4) Long-term borrowings 42,180 42,227 47

Total liabilities ¥103,034 ¥103,121 ¥87
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 Thousands of U.S. dollars

For the year ended March 31, 2013
Consolidated balance 

sheet amount Fair value Difference

(1) Cash and deposits $1,233,745 $1,233,745 $–

(2) Notes and accounts receivable-trade 134,673

     Allowance for doubtful accounts(*)  (121)

$134,552 $134,552 $–

(3) Marketable and investment securities

    1) Held-to-maturity securities 1,839 1,859 20

    2) Other securities 9,613 9,613  –

Total assets $1,379,749 $1,379,769 $20

(1) Notes and accounts payable-trade $360,974 $360,949 $(25)

(2) Shot-term borrowings and

     Current portion of long-term borrowings 211,632 211,687 55

(3) Bonds 74,428 74,831 403

(4) Long-term borrowings 448,493 448,987 494

Total liabilities $1,095,527 $1,096,454 $927

(*) The allowance for doubtful accounts related to notes and accounts receivable–trade has been deducted.

(3) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS FOR WHICH IT IS EXTREMELY DIFFICULT TO DETERMINE THE FAIR VALUE
Book value

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

Other securities
 Unlisted stocks ¥173 ¥329 $3,504
 Investments in silent partnership 496 498 5,290

(4) REDEMPTION SCHEDULE OF PECUNIARY CLAIMS AND HELD-TO-MATURITY SECURITIES
Maturity value

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

Cash and deposits
 Within one year ¥97,679 ¥116,034 $1,233,745
Notes and accounts receivable-trade
 Within one year 11,016 12,666 134,673
Marketable and investment securities
 Held-to-maturity securities (National government bonds)
 Within one year 3,055 100 1,063
 Over one year and within five years 75 75 797

Total
 Within one year ¥111,750 ¥128,800 $1,369,481
 Over one year and within five years 75 75 797
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07   SECURITIES
Information regarding the investment securities at March 31, 2012 and 2013 is summarized as follows:

(1) HELD-TO-MATURITY SECURITIES WITH MARKET VALUE

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

Securities whose market value exceeds book value

 Book value ¥127 ¥73 $776

 Market value 129 75 796

 Difference 2 2 20

Securities whose market value does not exceed book value

 Book value 3,000 100 1,063

 Market value 3,000 100 1,063

 Difference – – –

Total

 Book value ¥3,127 ¥173 $1,839

 Market value 3,129 175 1,859

 Difference 2 2 20

(2) OTHER SECURITIES WITH MARKET VALUE AVAILABLE

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

Securities whose market value exceeds acquisition cost

 Stocks

  Acquisition cost ¥528 ¥582 $6,192

  Market value 704 861 9,160

  Difference 176 279 2,968

Securities whose market value does not exceed acquisition cost

 Stocks

  Acquisition cost – 43 453

  Market value – 43 453

  Difference – – –

Total

  Acquisition cost ¥528 ¥625 $6,645

  Market value 704 904 9,613

  Difference 176 279 2,968

(3) OTHER SECURITIES SOLD DURING THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2012 and 2013
Not applicable.
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(4) INVESTMENTS IN NON-CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

Investment securities – 188 2,003

08   LEASE TRANSACTIONS
If finance leases that do not transfer the ownership and commenced prior to April 1, 2008 had been capitalized, finance lease assets 
at March 31, 2012 and 2013 would have been reported as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

Acquisition cost ¥132 – –
Accumulated depreciation (120) – –
 Net book value ¥12 – –
Depreciation ¥78 ¥12 $131

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the lease term of the leased assets, with residual values of which 
are zero.

 
Lease rental expenses on finance lease contracts without transfer of ownership and commenced prior to April 1,2008 for the years 

ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

Lease rental expense ¥78 ¥12 $131

The amount of outstanding future lease payments under finance lease contracts without transfer of ownership and commenced 
prior to April 1, 2008 at March 31, 2012 and 2013, which included the portion of interest thereon, is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

Future lease payments
 Within one year ¥12 – –
 Over one year – – –
  Total ¥12 – –

The amounts of outstanding future lease rental payments payable and receivable under operating lease contracts at March 31, 
2012 and 2013, are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

Future lease payments payable
 Within one year ¥1,170 ¥957 $10,173
 Over one year 5,129 3,909 41,567
  Total ¥6,299 ¥4,866 $51,740
Future lease payments receivable
 Within one year ¥531 ¥532 $5,652
 Over one year 3,810 3,278 34,856
  Total ¥4,341 ¥3,810 $40,508
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09   SHORT-TERM DEBT AND LONG-TERM DEBT
Short-term debt and long-term debt at March 31, 2012 and 2013 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

 
Average 

interest rate2012 2013 2013

Short-term debt
 Short-term borrowings ¥2,050 ¥276 $2,935 1.49%
 Current portion of long-term borrowings 22,072 19,628 208,697 1.55
 Bonds due within one year 10,000 – – –ー
 Commercial papers 500 – – –ー
 Current portion of lease obligations 36 29 306 3.28
Long-term debt
 Long-term borrowings 56,298 42,180 448,493 1.37
 Bonds – 7,000 74,429 1.38
 Lease obligations 76 51 537 3.50
  Total ¥91,032 ¥69,164 $735,397

Borrowings secured by collateral at March 31, 2012 and 2013 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

Short-term borrowings ¥400 ¥276 $2,935
Current portion of long-term borrowings 15,043 5,015 53,327
Long-term borrowings 29,227 12,577 133,721
  Total ¥44,670 ¥17,868 $189,983

Bonds at March 31, 2012 and 2013 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

3.17% domestic straight bonds, due 2012 ¥5,000 ¥– $–
2.42% domestic straight bonds, due 2013 5,000 – –
1.21% domestic straight bonds, due 2015 – 5,000 53,163
1.79% domestic straight bonds, due 2017 – 2,000 21,265
  Total ¥10,000 ¥7,000 $74,428

The aggregate annual maturities during the next five years and thereafter of long-term borrowings including the current portion 
outstanding at March 31, 2013 are as follows:

Year ending March 31 Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2013 ¥19,628 $208,697
2014 29,199 310,469
2015 9,611 102,192
2016 1,880 19,989
2017 1,490 15,843

2018 and thereafter – –

  Total ¥61,808 $657,190
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Assets pledged as collateral for short-term borrowings and long-term borrowings with banks at March 31, 2012 and 2013 are as 
follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

Cash and deposits ¥– ¥90 $957

Notes and accounts receivable-trade – 51 547

Inventories 52,173 20,785 221,001

Land – 145 1,538

Buildings and structures – 91 968

Other assets 1,353 1,353 14,383

  Total ¥53,526 ¥22,515 $239,394

10   EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
The Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries have defined benefit retirement plans that include corporate defined 
benefit pension plans (CDBPs) and lump-sum payment plans as well as defined contribution pension plans, etc.

The allowance for retirement benefits at March 31, 2012 and 2013 is analyzed as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

(1) Projected benefit obligations ¥(9,284) ¥(11,387) $(121,073)

(2) Plan assets at fair value 3,603 4,758 50,589

(3) Net (1)+(2) (5,681) (6,629) (70,484)

(4) Unrecognized transition amount 326 217 2,312

(5) Unrecognized actuarial differences 1,704 1,921 20,427

(6) Prior service cost (52) (33) (354)

(7) Subtotal (3)+(4)+(5)+(6) (3,703) (4,524) (48,099)

(8) Prepaid pension cost 160 114 1,213

(9) Allowance for employee’s retirement benefits (7) - (8) ¥(3,863) ¥(4,638) $(49,312)

Net pension expense related to retirement benefits for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 is as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

(1) Service cost ¥561 ¥529 $5,630

(2) Interest cost 162 166 1,766

(3) Expected return on plan assets (98) (108) (1,149)

(4) Amortization of transition amount 109 109 1,156

(5) Amortization of unrecognized actuarial differences 367 405 4,308

(6) Prior Service Cost (94) (19) (206)

(7) Net, retirement benefit expenses (1)+(2)+(3)+(4)+(5)+(6) 1,007 1,082 11,505

(8) Other 318 319 3,393

(9) Total (7)+(8) ¥1,325 ¥1,401 $14,898
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Assumptions used in the calculation of the above information are as follows:
2012 2013

Discount rate 1.8% 0.7%-0.9%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 3.0% 3.0%
Method of attributing the projected benefits to periods of service Straight-line basis Straight-line basis
Prior service cost All expensed in current year All expensed in current year
Amortization of transition amount 15 years 15 years

Amortization of unrecognized actuarial differences Over 5 to 8 years subsequent to 
the fiscal year of occurrence

Over 5 to 8 years subsequent to 
the fiscal year of occurrence

11   INCOME TAXES
The Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries are subject to corporate tax of 30% and 25.5%, Special Reconstruction 
Corporation Tax of 2.55% ( March 31, 2013), inhabitant tax of approximately 6% and 5%, and deductible enterprise tax of approximately 
8%, which in the aggregate resulted in a statutory income tax rate of approximately 40.7% and 38.0% for the years ended March 
31, 2012 and 2013 respectively.

The reconciliation between the statutory income tax rate and the income tax rate reflected in the consolidated statements of 
income is as follows:

  2012   2013

Statutory tax rate 40.7% 38.0%
Reconciliation

Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes 0.4 0.5
Per capital inhabitant taxes 0.5 0.5
Amortization of goodwill 1.6 1.7
Gain on negative goodwill – (1.1)
Impairment loss on goodwill – 1.2
Adjustment of deferred tax assets for enacted changes in tax laws and rates 7.9 –
Adjustment of book value of a subsidiary for consolidated tax 0.9 –
Effect of consolidated tax (0.9) (0.7)
Valuation allowance (53.6) (17.6)
Other 0.1 0.2

Effective income tax rate (2.4) 22.7

The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities at March 31, 2012 and 2013 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

Deferred tax assets:
 Impairment loss on fixed assets ¥3,148 ¥3,107 $33,039
 Allowance for employees’ retirement benefits 1,352 1,519 16,146
 Loss carryforwards 28,864 23,058 245,172
 Other 2,109 2,276 24,194
  Gross deferred tax assets 35,473 29,960 318,551
  Less: Valuation allowance (28,602) (24,881) (264,547)
  Total deferred tax assets 6,871 5,079 54,004
Deferred tax liabilities:
 Unrealized gains on other securities 48 87 927

Excess of fair value over the book value of assets and 
liabilities of a consolidated subsidiary at the acquisition date – 653 6,944

 Other 121 132 1,395
  Gross deferred tax liabilities 169 872 9,266
  Net deferred tax assets ¥6,702 ¥4,207 $44,738
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The valuation allowance relates to temporary differences and operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes that are not expected 
to be realized.

12   CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries are contingently liable for guarantees at March 31, 2012 and 2013 as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

Guarantee to customers ¥42,465 ¥33,591 $357,161

Guarantee to a non-consolidated subsidiary – 13 136

  Total ¥42,465 ¥33,604 $357,297

13   NET ASSETS
Under Japanese laws and regulations, the entire amount paid for new shares is basically required to be designated as capital stock. 
However, a company may, by resolution of the Board of Directors, designate an amount not exceeding one-half of the new share’s 
price as additional paid-in capital, which is included in capital surplus. 

Under Japanese Corporate Law (“the Law”), in cases where a dividend distribution of surplus is made, the smaller of an amount 
equal to 10% of the dividend or the excess, if any, of 25% of capital stock over the total of additional paid-in-capital and legal earnings 
reserve must be set aside as additional paid-in-capital or legal earnings reserve. The legal earnings reserve is included in retained 
earnings in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Under the Law, in the case of the Company, legal earnings reserve and additional paid-in capital could be used to eliminate or 
reduce a deficit by resolution of the Board of Directors. 

Additional paid-in capital and legal earnings reserve may not be distributed as dividends. However, all additional paid-in capital and 
legal earnings reserve may be transferred to other capital surplus and retained earnings, respectively, which are potentially available 
for dividends. 

The maximum amount that the Company can distribute as dividends is calculated based on the non-consolidated financial 
statements of the Company in accordance with Japanese laws and regulations.

14   PREFERRED STOCK
The Company issued several classes of preferred stock as follows:

Number of shares outstanding
(thousands)

Issuance 2012 2013

Class 1 September 2002 10,000 10,000

Class 2 September 2002 11,250 11,250

Class 4 September 2002 18,750 18,750

Class 7 March 2009 25,000 25,000

Class 8 March 2009 23,598 23,598

  Total 88,598 88,598

Preferred stock has a conversion feature to common stock at the holder’s option, which becomes effective after a certain 
predetermined period (2 to 7 years) after issuance. The initial conversion price is determined either as the average market price of 
the Company’s common stock at issuance (Class 2, Class 4 Class 7, and Class 8 preferred stock) or the average market price of 
the Company’s common stock when the conversion feature becomes effective (Class 1 preferred stock). The preferred stock is 
convertible to common stock over 18 to 20 years, and conversion prices are reset annually if certain conditions are met. Preferred 
stock outstanding at the end of the conversion period is mandatorily converted to common stock at a predetermined conversion rate.
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15   COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Amounts reclassified to net income in the current period that were recognized in other comprehensive income in the current or 
previous periods and tax effects for each component of other comprehensive income are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

Net unrealized gains on other securities

 Changes during the year ¥(88) ¥106 $1,122

 Reclassification adjustments 2 – –

  Sub-total, before tax (86) 106 1,122

  Tax or benefit 41 (39) (417)

  Sub-total, net of tax ¥(45) ¥67 $705

Foreign currency translation adjustment

 Changes during the year ¥(4) ¥(7) $(76)

  Total other comprehensive income ¥(49) ¥60 $629

16   CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(1) Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash on hand, bank deposits withdrawable on demand and highly liquid investments with 

original maturities of three months or less and a low risk of fluctuation in value. 

(2) Cash and cash equivalents at March 31, 2012 and 2013 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2012 2013 2013

Cash and deposits ¥97,679 116,034 $1,233,744

Time deposits with original term of 3 months or less (24) (328) (3,483)

Marketable securities with maturities of 3 months or less 3,000 – –

Cash and cash equivalents ¥100,655 ¥115,706 $1,230,261

(3) Assets and liabilities of the company, which is additionally included into consolidation

(a)Grand Amenity, Ltd.

Millions of yen Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2013 2013

Current assets ¥ 784 $ 8,332

Other assets 3,602 38,303

  Total assets ¥ 4,386 $ 46,635

Current liabilities ¥ (801) $ (8,512)

Long-term liabilities (978) (10,401)

  Total liabilities ¥ (1,779) $ (18,913)

Minority interests ¥(22) $(232) 

Purchase price ¥ 2,585 $ 27,490

Cash and cash equivalents (327) (3,479)

Net:Payments for purchase of stocks of a subsidiary resulting in 
change in scope of consolidation ¥ 2,258 $ 24,011
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(b)APEX WAKO Co,Ltd

Millions of yen Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2013 2013

Current assets ¥ 3,345 $ 35,564

Other assets 774 8,231

  Total assets ¥ 4,119 $ 43,795

Current liabilities ¥ (1,959) $ (20,833)

Long-term liabilities (604) (6,414)

  Total liabilities ¥ (2,563) $ (27,247)

Minority interests ¥ – $ (3)

Gain on negative goodwill (606) (6,439)

Purchase price ¥ 950 $ 10,106

Cash and cash equivalents (994) (10,578)

Net:Proceeds from purchase of stocks of a subsidiary resulting in 
change in scope of consolidation ¥(44) $(472) 

17   BUSINESS CONBINATION
(Transactions for the year ended March 31, 2012 are as follows:
Not applicable.

Transactions for the year ended March 31, 2013 are as follows:

(1) Acquisition of shares in Grand Amenity, Ltd. 

(Overview of corporate combination)

(a) Company name and business description of the acquired corporation
Company name : Grand Amenity, Ltd.
Business description : Condominium management; building and rental condominium management

(b) Principal reasons for the business combination
Combining the business of Grand Amenity, Ltd. strengthens profitability of the existing business of the Group and expands 
the revenue base through expected synergies, such as increase in the number of condominium to be managed by the Group, 
broadening the customer base for large-scale repair and maintenance works, expansion of business opportunities by sharing of 
know-how, and cost savings through joint ownership of its network of business partners.

(c) Date of the business combination
April 11, 2012

(d) Legal form of business combination
Acquisition of stock 

(e) Name of the corporation after the business combination
Grand Amenity, Ltd .

(f) Share of voting rights acquired
98%

(g) Primary basis for the decision by the acquiring company
DAIKYO ASTAGE INCORPORATED, the Company’s consolidated subsidiary paid cash in compensation for share acquisition

(Period for the acquired business included in the consolidated financial statements)
From April 1, 2012 to March 31, 2013
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(Acquisition cost and details of the acquired company)

Price of acquisition, 

Cash ¥2,494 million

Expenditures paid directly at acquisition 

Fees and other costs in connection with determining acquisition cost 91 million

 Sub-total, before tax ¥2,585 million

(Amount of goodwill, reason for recognizing goodwill and amortization method) 
(a) Amount of goodwill  ¥1,511 million
(b) Reason for recognizing goodwill 

The excess of the acquisition cost over the net assets at fair value at the business combination is recognized as goodwill.
(c) Amortization method

Straight-line method over 16 years

(Amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the date of the business combination)
Millions of yen

Current assets ¥784

Fixed assets 2,091

Total of assets ¥2,875

Current liabilities ¥801

Long-term liabilities 978

Total liabilities ¥1,779

(Amount allocated to intangible assets other than goodwill and weighted average amortization period by type)

Millions of yen Weighted average
amortization period

Customer relationships ¥1,894 27years

(2) Acquisition of shares in APEX WAKO CO., LTD. 

(Overview of corporate combination)

(a) Company name and business description of the acquired corporation
Company name : APEX WAKO CO., LTD.
Business description : Electrical equipment work;
instrumentation work; air-conditioning and plumbing work,etc.

(b) Principal reasons for the business combination
Combining the business of APEX WAKO CO., LTD. strengthens profitability of the existing business of the Group and expands 
the revenue base through expected synergies, such as increase in the electrical equipment work in condominiums and buildings 
managed by the Group, improving the profitability of contract work, by bringing them inhouse.

(c) Date of the business combination
March 29, 2013

(d) Legal form of business combination
Share exchange for cash consideration

(e) Name of the corporation after the business combination
APEX WAKO CO., LTD.

(f) Share of voting rights acquired
100%

(g) Primary basis for the decision by the acquiring company
The Company’s consolidated subsidiary ORIX Facilities Corporation exchanged shares for share acquisition
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(Period for the acquired business included in the consolidated financial statements)
Not applicable because the deemed acquisition date is March 31,2013

(Acquisition cost and details of the acquired company)

Price of acquisition, 

Cash ¥891 million

Expenditures paid directly at acquisition 

Fees and other costs in connection with determining acquisition cost 59 million

 Sub-total, before tax ¥950 million

(Amount of gains on negative goodwill and reason for recognizing negative goodwill) 
(a) Amount of gains on negative goodwill   ¥606 million
(b) Reason for recognizing negative goodwill

The excess of the net assets at fair value at the business combination over the acquisition cost is recognized as negative 
goodwill.

(Amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the date of the business combination)
Millions of yen

Current assets ¥3,345

Fixed assets 774

Total of assets ¥4,119

Current liabilities ¥1,960

Long-term liabilities 603

Total liabilities ¥2,563

(Estimated impact on the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2013 if 
business combination had been completed as of beginning of the year ended March 31, 2013)
The disclosure is omitted due to the immateriality of estimated impact.

18   SEGMENT INFORMATION
(General information about reportable segments)
The reportable segments of the Group represent its components whose operating results are regularly reviewed, utilizing separately 
available financial information, by the Board of Directors in deciding how to allocate resources and assessing segment performance.

The Group is composed of companies which operate business based on the nature of products and services. The Group develop 
comprehensive strategies and perform business activities.

The Group’s segments have been aggregated based on the nature of products and services into three reportable segments of 
“Real Estate Development and Sales”, “Real Estate Management”, and “Real Estate Brokerage”.

Descriptions of reportable segments are stated below.

Segment Main business

Real Estate Development and Sales Development and allotment sales of condominiums, etc.

Real Estate Management Management of condominiums and office buildings, contracts for condominium repair 
and maintenance work, etc.

Real Estate Brokerage Real estate brokerage, existing real estate sales, etc.
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(Basis of measurement of reported segment profit or loss, segment assets, segment liabilities and other material items)
The accounting policies of segments are almost the same as those described in Note 3 (“SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES”). The measure of segment profit is operating income. Transactions and transfers between segments are made at arm’s 
length prices.

(Information about reported segment profit or loss, segment assets, segments liabilities and other material items)
Information as of and for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 is as follows:

Millions of yen

 
 
 
For the year ended March 31, 2012

Real Estate
Development

and Sales

Real Estate
Management

Real Estate 
Brokerage Other(*)

Eliminations
or Corporate

Assets/
Expenses

Consolidated
Total

Net Sales

(1) Sales to outside customers ¥165,096 ¥110,490 ¥20,537 ¥2,574 ¥– ¥298,697 

(2) Inter-segment sales/transfers 267 940 51 435 (1,693) –

  Total net sales ¥165,363 ¥111,430 ¥20,588 ¥3,009 ¥(1,693) ¥298,697 

Segment Profit ¥16,074 ¥8,210 ¥(449) ¥329 ¥(2,095) ¥22,069 

Assets ¥246,197 ¥46,052 ¥13,159 ¥– ¥(15,147) ¥290,261 

Depreciation 251 303 81 8 (2) 641

Amortization of goodwill 46 691 90 – – 827

Interest expense 2,751 1 50 – (307) 2,495

Total expenditures for additions to tangible fixed 
assets and intangible fixed assets

410 725 176 1 (36) 1,276

(*) “Other” is a business segment which is not included in the reportable segments and includes engineering. In line with the sale 
of its shares owned by Daikyo on January 4, 2012, FUSO ENGINEERING INCORPORATED, which had engaged in the business, 
is no longer included in the consolidation.

Millions of yen

 
 
 
For the year ended March 31, 2013

Real Estate
Development

and Sales

Real Estate
Management

Real Estate
Brokerage

Eliminations
or Corporate

Assets/Expenses

Consolidated
Total

Net Sales

(1) Sales to outside customers ¥158,706 ¥120,794 ¥23,111 ¥– ¥302,611 

(2) Inter-segment sales/transfers 194 1,826 73 (2,093) –

  Total net sales ¥158,900 ¥122,620 ¥23,184 ¥(2,093) ¥302,611 

Segment Profit ¥14,923 ¥8,318 ¥1,223 ¥(2,362) ¥22,102

Assets ¥217,304 ¥49,958 ¥13,855 ¥(5,674) ¥275,443 

Depreciation 284 433 141 (7) 851

Amortization of goodwill 46 786 90 – 922

Interest expense 1,636 11 31 (233) 1,445

Total expenditures for additions to tangible fixed 
assets and intangible fixed assets

4,966 4,296 343 (108) 9,497
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Thousands of U.S. dollars

 
 
 
For the year ended March 31, 2013

Real Estate
Development

and Sales

Real Estate
Management

Real Estate 
Brokerage

Eliminations
or Corporate

Assets/Expenses

Consolidated
Total

Net Sales

(1) Sales to outside customers $1,687,460 $1,284,362 $245,728 $– $3,217,550 

(2) Inter-segment sales/transfers 2,061 19,415 776 (22,252) –

  Total net sales $1,689,521 $1,303,777 $246,504 $(22,252) $3,217,550  

Segment Profit $158,673 $88,442 $13,008 $(25,124) $234,999 

Assets $2,310,514 $531,182 $147,312 $(60,325) $2,928,683 

Depreciation 3,022 4,601 1,498 (72) 9,049

Amortization of goodwill 489 8,351 959 – 9,799

Interest expense 17,396 120 325 (2,480) 15,361

Total expenditures for additions to tangible fixed 
assets and intangible fixed assets

52,795 45,680 3,649 (1,151) 100,973

19   RELATED PARTY INFORMATION
No material related party transaction to be disclosed for the years ended March 31, 2012. 
Related party transaction for the year ended March 31, 2013 is as follows:

Type Subsidiary of the other affiliated company

Name of the related party ORIX Real Estate Corporation 

Address Minato-ku,Tokyo

Capital or investment ¥200 million

Type of business Real estate-related

Equity ownership percentage None

Relation Mutual directorships

Nature of transaction Purchase of land and building

Transaction amount ¥3,810 million

Account –

Balance at year-end –

20   SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
(1) Acquisition of shares in Anabuki Construction Inc.
The Company resolved to acquire shares in Anabuki Construction Inc. in a meeting of the Board of Directors on March 11, 2013, and 
has completed its acquisition of shares on April 1, 2013.

(Overview of corporate combination)

(a) Company name and business description of acquired company
Company name : Anabuki Construction Inc.
Business description: Design and construction in construction work;

planning and construction condominium and detached house;
real estate brokerage
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(b) Principal reasons for the business combination
Anabuki Construction Inc. manages housing business mainly in suburban city areas over the years and supplied buildings as 
‘Surpass’ brand. The subsidiaries of Anabuki Construction Inc. also engage in a comprehensive range of housing-related services 
such as condominium management business and real estate brokerage business. The Company has decided to acquire the 
shares in Anabuki Construction Inc., making it a subsidiary in the belief that the acquisition will make various of synergies by 
combining with each companies’ strength.

(c) Date of the business combination
April 1, 2013

(d) Legal form of business combination
Share acquisition

(e) Name of the corporation after the business combination
   Anabuki Construction Inc.

(f) Share of voting rights acquired
   100%

(g) Primary basis for the decision by the acquiring company
The Company paid cash in compensation for share acquisition

(Acquisition cost and details of the acquired company)

Price of acquisition, 

Cash ¥30,700 million

Expenses directory required for the acquisition, 

Advisory expenses, etc. 40 million

 Sub-total, before tax ¥30,740 million

(Amounts, substance and amortization method of goodwill (or negative goodwill) to be incurred)
The amount, cause and amortization method of goodwill (or negative goodwill) to be incurred due to the share exchange have not 
been determined as of the date of this report.

(2) Introduction of the system of voluntary early retirement
The Company and its main domestic consolidated subsidiaries introduced the system of voluntary early retirement on April 1, 2013.

(a) Purpose
The Company and main subsidiaries adopted the system of early retirement to support the employees in pursuing their life plans.
Eligible employees can choose certain early retirement options that suit with their career plans or second lives.

(b) Overview
Eligible personnel: Employees with at least fifteen years’ of service may retire earlier after the month in which they reach the 

age of fifty.
Content of the system: Additional retirement payment will be provided.

(c) Effect of introduction of the system 
Prior service cost will be incurred amounting to ¥2,092 million
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DAIKYO ASTAGE INCORPORATED

DAIKYO REALDO INCORPORATED

ORIX Facilities Corporation

ANABUKI CONSTRUCTION INC.

Tokyo

Tokyo

Kyoto

Kagawa

¥1,237

¥1,413

¥857

¥250

Condominium management, Repair and maintenance work, 
Tenant services

Real estate brokerage, Leasing management, 
Asset management

Total building management, Real estate management, 
Construction

Real estate development, Real estate sales, 
Contract construction

JAPAN LOCATION MAIN BUSINESS
CAPITAL STOCK

(Millions of yen)

TAIWAN DAIKYO INCORPORATED Taipei, Taiwan NT$50 Real estate sales

OVERSEAS LOCATION MAIN BUSINESS
CAPITAL STOCK

(Millions of new Taiwan dollars)

CORPORATE NAME:

HEAD OFFICE:

DATE ESTABLISHED:

BRANCH OFFICES:

HOKKAIDO BRANCH OFFICE
Dunlop SK Building, 4-16, Odori-nishi 10-chome, Chuo-ku, Sapporo, Hokkaido 060-0042, Japan
Phone: +81-11-221-2322

Sendagaya No. 21 Daikyo Building, 24-13, Sendagaya 4-chome, Shibuya-ku, Tokyo 151-8506, Japan
Phone: +81-3-3475-1111

December 11, 1964

DAIKYO INCORPORATED

Prime Square Hirose Dori Building, 9-27, Chuo 2-chome, Aoba-ku, Sendai, Miyagi 980-0021, Japan
Phone: +81-22-262-2171

ORE Nagoya Fushimi Building, 9-29, Nishiki 2-chome, Naka-ku, Nagoya, Aichi 460-0003, Japan
Phone: +81-52-728-0700

ORE Shinsaibashi Building, 2-3, Nishi-Shinsaibashi 2-chome, Chuo-ku, Osaka, Osaka 542-0086, Japan
Phone: +81-6-7177-1477

Hakataekimae H-44 Building, 4-15, Hakataekimae 4-chome, Hakata-ku, Fukuoka, Fukuoka 812-0011, Japan
Phone: +81-92-481-8866

Okinawa No. 27 Daikyo Building, 8-1, Kumoji 2-chome, Naha, Okinawa 900-0015, Japan
Phone: +81-98-866-7100

Hiroshima Sanei Building, 7-41, Nakamachi, Naka-ku, Hiroshima, Hiroshima 730-0037, Japan
Phone: +81-82-205-5080

TOHOKU BRANCH OFFICE

NAGOYA BRANCH OFFICE

OSAKA BRANCH OFFICE

HIROSHIMA BRANCH OFFICE

KYUSHU BRANCH OFFICE

OKINAWA BRANCH OFFICE

MAJOR CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES:
(As of April 1, 2013)

(As of March 31, 2013) (As of March 31, 2013)

TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES ISSUED:

NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS:

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING:

TRANSFER AGENT OF COMMON STOCK:

Common stock
Preferred stock

Note: Excludes the number of shares of preferred stock.

25,735

Tokyo Stock Exchange: First Section (code: 8840)

Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and Banking Corporation

445,337,738
85,598,144

ORIX Corporation

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account)

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account)

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account 9)

State Street Bank West Pension Fund Clients Exempt

Japan Securities Finance Co., Ltd.

Daikyo Group Employees Shareholding Association

Aioi Nissay Dowa Insurance Co., Ltd.

Daikyo Business Partners Shareholding Association

BBH Boston GMO International Intrinsic Value

139,285

18,449

9,080

8,123

7,849

6,127

5,694

5,573

5,152

4,908

NAME NUMBER OF SHARES (1,000 shares) RATIO (%)

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS:

DISTRIBUTION OF SHARES BY TYPE OF SHAREHOLDER (COMMON STOCK):

Japanese financial
institutions 17.1

Japanese securities
companies 4.6

Other Japanese corporations 33.9
Foreign institutions and

individuals 18.8
Japanese individuals and

others 25.6

31.27

4.14

2.03

1.82

1.76

1.37

1.27

1.25

1.15

1.10

%

%

%

%

%
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CAPITAL STOCK
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DATE ESTABLISHED:

BRANCH OFFICES:
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Dunlop SK Building, 4-16, Odori-nishi 10-chome, Chuo-ku, Sapporo, Hokkaido 060-0042, Japan
Phone: +81-11-221-2322

Sendagaya No. 21 Daikyo Building, 24-13, Sendagaya 4-chome, Shibuya-ku, Tokyo 151-8506, Japan
Phone: +81-3-3475-1111

December 11, 1964

DAIKYO INCORPORATED

Prime Square Hirose Dori Building, 9-27, Chuo 2-chome, Aoba-ku, Sendai, Miyagi 980-0021, Japan
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ORE Nagoya Fushimi Building, 9-29, Nishiki 2-chome, Naka-ku, Nagoya, Aichi 460-0003, Japan
Phone: +81-52-728-0700

ORE Shinsaibashi Building, 2-3, Nishi-Shinsaibashi 2-chome, Chuo-ku, Osaka, Osaka 542-0086, Japan
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Phone: +81-92-481-8866

Okinawa No. 27 Daikyo Building, 8-1, Kumoji 2-chome, Naha, Okinawa 900-0015, Japan
Phone: +81-98-866-7100

Hiroshima Sanei Building, 7-41, Nakamachi, Naka-ku, Hiroshima, Hiroshima 730-0037, Japan
Phone: +81-82-205-5080

TOHOKU BRANCH OFFICE

NAGOYA BRANCH OFFICE

OSAKA BRANCH OFFICE

HIROSHIMA BRANCH OFFICE

KYUSHU BRANCH OFFICE

OKINAWA BRANCH OFFICE

MAJOR CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES:
(As of April 1, 2013)

(As of March 31, 2013) (As of March 31, 2013)

TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES ISSUED:

NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS:

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING:

TRANSFER AGENT OF COMMON STOCK:

Common stock
Preferred stock

Note: Excludes the number of shares of preferred stock.

25,735

Tokyo Stock Exchange: First Section (code: 8840)

Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and Banking Corporation

445,337,738
85,598,144

ORIX Corporation

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account)

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account)

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account 9)

State Street Bank West Pension Fund Clients Exempt

Japan Securities Finance Co., Ltd.

Daikyo Group Employees Shareholding Association

Aioi Nissay Dowa Insurance Co., Ltd.

Daikyo Business Partners Shareholding Association

BBH Boston GMO International Intrinsic Value

139,285

18,449

9,080

8,123

7,849

6,127

5,694

5,573

5,152

4,908

NAME NUMBER OF SHARES (1,000 shares) RATIO (%)

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS:

DISTRIBUTION OF SHARES BY TYPE OF SHAREHOLDER (COMMON STOCK):

Japanese financial
institutions 17.1

Japanese securities
companies 4.6

Other Japanese corporations 33.9
Foreign institutions and
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Japanese individuals and

others 25.6

31.27
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%

%

%

%

%
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DAIKYO INCORPORATED
Sendagaya No. 21 Daikyo Building, 24-13, Sendagaya 4-chome,

Shibuya-ku,Tokyo 151-8506, Japan

http://www.daikyo.co.jp/
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